博士論文

論文題目 On codimension two contact embeddings in the standard spheres (標準接触球面への余次元2の接触埋め込みについて)

氏名 古川 遼

ON CODIMENSION TWO CONTACT EMBEDDINGS IN THE STANDARD SPHERES

RYO FURUKAWA

Contents

1. Introduction	3
1.1. Existence of embeddings of closed contact 3-manifolds in	
the standard 5-sphere	4
1.2. The relative Euler numbers of codimension two contact	
submanifolds and their Seifert hypersurfaces	5
1.3. Plan of the thesis	7
Acknowledgments	8
Part 1. Existence of embeddings of closed contact	
3-manifolds in the standard 5-sphere	9
2. Preliminaries to Part 1	9
2.1. Contact structures and contact embeddings	9
2.2. The self-linking numbers of null-homologous transverse	
knots	10
2.3. Homotopy classes of oriented 2-plane fields on oriented	
3-manifolds	10
2.4. Overtwisted contact structures in dimension three	11
2.5. Branched coverings	12
3. Topological Braided embeddings	13
4. Contact braided embeddings	14
5. Contact embeddings of 3-manifolds in the standard 5-sphere	17
5.1. Proof of Theorem 1.3	17
5.2. Proof of Theorem 1.5	20
5.3. Proof of Theorem 1.6 (1) , (2) and a part of (3)	21
Part 2. The relative Euler numbers of codimension two	
contact submanifolds and their Seifert hypersurfaces	27
6. Preliminaries to Part 2	27
6.1. The relative Euler number	27
6.2. Almost contact structures	28
	00

6.3. Overtwisted contact structures in higher dimensions 28

7. Proof of Theorem 1.9	29
7.1. Construction of a copy of a contact submanifold and its	
Seifert hypersurface	29
7.2. Construction of a braided embedding and its Seifert	
hypersurface	30
7.3. The characteristic foliation on a Seifert hypersurface of a	
braided embedding	33
8. The relative Euler numbers of smooth unknots in the	
standard spheres	35
8.1. Contact 3-spheres in the standard S^5	36
8.2. Connected sum of codimension two contact spheres	37
8.3. Contact S^{2n+1} 's in the standard S^{2n+3}	39
References	41

1. INTRODUCTION

A contact structure on a (2n + 1)-dimensional manifold M is a maximally nonintegrable hyperplane field ξ . Locally ξ can be written as $\xi = \ker \alpha$ by a 1-form α satisfying $\alpha \wedge (d\alpha)^n \neq 0$. If a contact structure ξ is cooriented, we can take α as a global 1-form on M. When M is oriented and $\xi = \ker \alpha$ is cooriented, we say that ξ is positive (resp. negative) if $\alpha \wedge (d\alpha)^n$ is a positive (resp. negative) volume form on M with respect to the given orientation. An embedding $j: M \to N$ between two contact manifolds (M, ξ) and (N, η) is called a contact embedding if $Tj(M) \cap \eta|_{j(M)} = dj(\xi)$.

The contact embedding problem of closed contact manifolds of codimension greater than two reduces to homotopy theory by Gromov's *h*-principle [25] and it is shown that any closed cooriented contact (2n + 1)-manifold embeds in (S^{4n+3}, ξ_{std}) . To construct contact embeddings Ibort, Martínez-Torres and Presas [31] developed the approximately holomorphic methods based on Donaldson's work for symplectic manifolds [9] and Martínez-Torres [35] (and Mori [40] in the case of n = 1) also proved that any closed cooriented contact (2n + 1)manifold embeds in (S^{4n+3}, ξ_{std}) and the embeddings are compatible with supporting open books.

In this thesis, we consider codimension two contact embeddings of closed contact (2n + 1)-manifolds in contact (2n + 3)-manifolds for $n \ge 1$, especially in (S^{2n+3}, ξ_{std}) or in a (2n + 3)-dimensional Darboux chart. Natural examples of codimension two contact embeddings in the standard spheres are the links of isolated hypersurface singularities [37]. Though there are several other examples, it is not yet well studied whether a given contact (2n + 1)-manifold can embed in (S^{2n+3}, ξ_{std}) .

To construct codimension two contact embeddings in higher dimensions, we focus on *braids* and *braided embeddings* which is a natural generalization in higher dimensions of closed braids in S^3 . An *m*dimensional manifold M is a *braid* about Y if there is an embedding of $j: M \to Y \times D^2$ such that $pr_1 \circ j$ is a branched covering, where $pr_1: Y \times D^2 \to Y$ is the projection to the first factor. We say that an embedding j of an *m*-dimensional manifold M in an (m+2)-dimensional manifold N is a *braided embedding* if there is an *m*-dimensional submanifold Yof N with trivial normal bundle and j makes M a braid about Y. A classical 1-dimensional closed braid is naturally a braid about the trivial knot in this sense and thus this definition of braided embeddings seem to be a natural generalization of that of classical closed braids. 2dimensional braids are well studied. The study on 3-dimensional braids has just begun for example in [3], [4], [5]. Though topological properties of higher dimensional braids are not yet well understood, they are useful to construct contact embeddings.

1.1. Existence of embeddings of closed contact 3-manifolds in the standard 5-sphere. Let us consider contact embeddings of closed positive contact 3-manifolds in (S^5, ξ_{std}) . By Hirsch [29], any closed oriented 3-manifold can embed in S^5 and thus there is no obstruction for smooth embeddings. For codimension two contact embeddings, however, there is one known obstruction other than obstructions for smooth embeddings in a general setting.

Theorem 1.1 (Kasuya [33]). If a closed cooriented contact manifold (M^{2n+1},ξ) embeds in a cooriented contact manifold (N^{2n+3},η) with $H^2(N^{2n+3}; \mathbf{Z}) = 0$, then the first Chern class $c_1(\xi)$ of ξ is trivial.

Then the following question naturally arises.

Question 1.2. Given a closed oriented 3-manifold M, does a positive contact structure ξ on M embed in (S^5, ξ_{std}) if and only if its first Chern class $c_1(\xi)$ is trivial?

In the first part of this thesis we give several partial answers to this question. In the case of S^3 , we can embed all the contact structures on S^3 in (S^5, ξ_{std}) in nice ways.

Theorem 1.3 (Etnyre and F. [17] Theorem 1.16). Any positive contact structure on S^3 can be embedded in (S^5, ξ_{std}) so that the embedding is isotopic to the standard one.

Remark 1.4. By using a T^3 action on S^5 , Mori [43] showed that there exists an overtwisted contact structure (and hence infinitely many overtwisted contact structures) on S^3 which embeds in (S^5, ξ_{std}) so that the embedding is isotopic to the standard one. But it was not clear whether all the contact structures can embed.

For overtwisted contact structures on any 3-manifold M, we have a partial answer to Question 1.2.

Theorem 1.5 (Etnyre and F. [17] Theorem 1.20). Let M be a closed oriented 3-manifold with no 2-torsion in its first homology group. Then a positive overtwisted contact structure ξ on M embeds in (S^5, ξ_{std}) if and only if $c_1(\xi) = 0$.

For tight contact structures on certain contact 3-manifolds, using the classification of tight contact structures [32] [22] [30], we obtain another partial answer to Question 1.2. **Theorem 1.6** (Etnyre and F. [17] Theorem 1.21). Let M be one of the following 3-manifolds.

- (1) $S^1 \times S^2$,
- (2) T^3 , or
- (3) a lens space L(p,q) (including S^3) with p odd or with p even and q = 1 or q = p - 1

Then a positive contact structure ξ on M embeds in (S^5, ξ_{std}) if and only if its first Chern class $c_1(\xi)$ is trivial.

In this thesis we prove (1), (2) and (3) for odd p's.

1.2. The relative Euler numbers of codimension two contact submanifolds and their Seifert hypersurfaces. One of the main research subjects on transverse knots is the classification problem, more precisely the problem to know whether the isotopy classes of transverse knots in a fixed smooth knot type are determined by their values of the self-linking number. It has been studied, for example, by using braid theory, convex surface theory or Floer type invariants such as knot Heegaard Floer homology and knot contact homology.

In the higher dimensional case, however, the classification problem of codimension two contact embeddings of closed contact manifolds has not been well studied. Some of reasons are that it has been difficult to find contact embeddings and that there have not been systematic ways to calculate invariants of codimension two contact embeddings.

Question 1.7. For positive integers n, are there two contact embeddings of a closed contact manifold (L^{2n+1},ξ) in (S^{2n+3},ξ_{std}) which are isotopic as smooth embeddings but not isotopic as contact embeddings?

We partially answer to this question by calculating the *relative Euler* number which is a natural generalization of the self-linking number in higher dimensions. For a null-homologous codimension two positive contact submanifold $(L, \xi|_{TL})$ and its Seifert hypersurface Σ $(L = \partial \Sigma)$ in a positive contact (2n + 3)-manifold (M, ξ) , we define the *relative Euler number* $e_{\rm rel}(L, \Sigma)$ of L and Σ by

$$e_{\rm rel}(L,\Sigma) = -\langle e(\xi, X_{\Sigma}), [\Sigma, \partial \Sigma] \rangle$$

where $e(\xi, X_{\Sigma}) \in H^{2n+2}(M, L; \mathbf{Z})$ is the relative Euler class relative to an outward vector field X_{Σ} along L which is tangent to $\xi|_{T\Sigma}$. The selflinking number $sl(L, \Sigma)$ of a transverse knot L and its Seifert surface Σ in a positive contact 3-manifold coincides with $e_{\rm rel}(L, \Sigma)$; $sl(L, \Sigma) = e_{\rm rel}(L, \Sigma)$.

The self-linking numbers of transverse knots play important roles in 3-dimensional contact topology. For a null-homologous knot L in a

positive tight contact 3-manifold, the Bennequin inequality $sl(L, \Sigma) \leq -\chi(\Sigma)$ holds, where $\chi(\Sigma)$ is the Euler characteristic of Σ [1] [13]. This inequality shows that the set of values of the self-linking numbers of transverse knots reflects tightness of the contact structure. In higher dimensional case, however, Mori showed that we cannot expect the same 'Bennequin inequality'.

Theorem 1.8 (Mori [42]). For any positive integer n, there exists a contact submanifold $L \cong S^1 \times S^{2n}$ and its Seifert hypersurface $\Sigma \cong D^2 \times S^{2n}$ in (S^{2n+3}, ξ_{std}) such that $e_{rel}(L, \Sigma) > -\chi(\Sigma)$.

We will give other examples with $e_{\rm rel}(L, \Sigma) > -\chi(\Sigma)$ in the standard spheres (Theorem 1.10 (1)).

In the second part of this thesis, we calculate the relative Euler numbers of certain codimension two contact submanifolds and their Seifert hypersurfaces obtained by using braided embedding technique [17]. This result generalizes the formula of the self-linking number of the (k, 1)-cable with k > 0 of a transverse knot K in a contact 3-sphere in terms of the self-linking number of K.

Theorem 1.9. Let n be a positive integer. Let M be a (2n + 3)dimensional integral homology sphere with a positive contact structure ξ . Let L be a (2n + 1)-dimensional oriented sphere which is a positive contact submanifold of (M, ξ) . Let K be a (2n-1)-dimensional oriented sphere which is a positive contact submanifold of $(L, \xi|_{TL})$. For any positive integer k, there exist a contact embedding $j: (L_{K,k}, (\xi|_{TL})_{K,k}) \rightarrow$ (M, ξ) of the k-fold cyclic covering $(L_{K,k}, (\xi|_{TL})_{K,k})$ of $(L, \xi|_{TL})$ branched along $(K, \xi|_{TK})$ and a Seifert hypersurface $\Sigma_{j(L_{K,k})}$ of $j(L_{K,k})$ such that

$$e_{\mathrm{rel}}(j(L_{K,k}), \Sigma_{j(L_{K,k})}) = k \cdot e_{\mathrm{rel}}(L) - (k-1) \cdot e_{\mathrm{rel}}(K).$$

Moreover, for any Seifert hypersurfaces Σ_K of K and Σ_L of L, the Seifert hypersurface $\Sigma_{j(L_{K,k})}$ can be taken so that it is diffeomorphic to the k-fold cyclic covering of Σ_L branched along a push-off Σ'_K of Σ_K into Σ_L relative to its boundary corresponding to the $\mathbf{Z}/k\mathbf{Z}$ reduction of the element in $H^1(\Sigma_L \backslash \Sigma'_K; \mathbf{Z})$ dual to the meridian circle of Σ'_K .

We use Theorem 1.9 to give two contact embeddings isotopic but not contact isotopic in Theorem 1.10 (2), which answers to Question 1.7 for any positive even number n.

Recently the study of the flexibility properties of higher dimensional contact manifolds are largely developed by the classification of overtwisted contact structures in higher dimensions [2] and by geometric characterizations of overtwistedness [6]. Combining with these results, Theorem 1.9 gives several informations on the relative Euler numbers of contact submanifolds in the standard sphere which are smooth unknots. Theorem 1.10 (1) gives examples of codimension two contact submanifolds with $e_{\rm rel}(L, \Sigma) > -\chi(\Sigma)$ as we mentioned.

- **Theorem 1.10.** (1) Let *m* be an integer and *n* be a positive integer. Then there exists a contact embedding of an overtwisted contact structure η_m on S^{2n+1} in (S^{2n+3}, ξ_{std}) such that it has the relative Euler number 2m + 1 and it is isotopic to the standard embedding.
 - (2) For any positive even number n, there exists an overtwisted contact structure ξ on S^{2n+1} and infinitely many contact embeddings of ξ in (S^{2n+3}, ξ_{std}) with distinct relative Euler numbers which are isotopic to the standard embedding. In particular, for any integer m, there exists a contact embedding of the unique overtwisted contact structure ξ_{ot} on S^5 in (S^7, ξ_{std}) such that it has the relative Euler number 2m + 1 and it is isotopic to the standard embedding.

1.3. Plan of the thesis. In Part 1 consisting of Sections 2–5, we consider the existence of embeddings of closed contact 3-manifolds in (S^5, ξ_{std}) . Almost all the contents of Part 1 are in the joint paper with John Etnyre [17]. In Section 2, we review contact embeddings, contact 3-manifolds and branched coverings. In Section 3, we introduce braids and braided embeddings. In Section 4, we consider braids in contact manifolds and give conditions for the braided embeddings to be contact embeddings. In Section 5, we apply braided embeddings to studying contact embeddings of closed contact 3-manifolds in (S^5, ξ_{std}) and prove Theorems 1.3, 1.5 and 1.6.

In Part 2 consisting of Sections 6–8, we consider the relative Euler numbers of codimension two contact submanifolds and its Seifert hypersurfaces. In Section 6, we define the relative Euler number $e_{\rm rel}$ and review overtwisted contact structures in higher dimensions. In Section 7, we prove Theorem 1.9 which gives the relative Euler numbers of contact embeddings of cyclic branched coverings. In Section 8, we apply Theorem 1.9 to proving Theorem 1.10. Acknowledgments. I would like to thank my advisor Takashi Tsuboi for his support for a long time and his useful comments. I thank John Etnyre who hosted me at the Georgia Institute of Technology and for his encouragement and helpful comments. I thank Atsuhide Mori for motivating me to study contact embedding problem and for useful discussions. I thank Naohiko Kasuya for helpful conversations. I am also grateful to all the people who kindly supported me.

This work was supported by the Program for Leading Graduate Schools, MEXT, Japan.

Part 1. Existence of embeddings of closed contact 3-manifolds in the standard 5-sphere

2. Preliminaries to Part 1

For a positive real number c we denote the closed interval [-c, c] by I_c and denote the closed disk with radius r centered at the origin embedded in \mathbf{R}^2 or \mathbf{C} by D_r^2 .

2.1. Contact structures and contact embeddings. A contact structure on a (2n+1)-dimensional manifold M is a maximally nonintegrable hyperplane field ξ . Locally ξ can be written as $\xi = \ker \alpha$ by a 1-form α satisfying $\alpha \wedge (d\alpha)^n \neq 0$. If a contact structure ξ is cooriented, we can take α as a global 1-form on M. When M is oriented and $\xi = \ker \alpha$ is cooriented, we say that ξ is positive (resp. negative) if $\alpha \wedge (d\alpha)^n$ is a positive (resp. negative) volume form on M with respect to the given orientation. An embedding $j: M \to N$ between two contact manifolds (M, ξ) and (N, η) is called a contact embedding if $Tj(M) \cap \eta|_{j(M)} = dj(\xi)$.

Example and Notation 2.1. The standard contact structure ξ_{std} on \mathbf{R}^{2n+1} is the contact structure given by $\xi_{\text{std}} = \ker(dz - \sum_{i=1}^{n} y_i dx_i)$. The standard contact structure ξ_{std} on the unit sphere S^{2n+1} in \mathbf{C}^{n+1} is a contact structure given by $\xi_{\text{std}} = \ker(-\frac{i}{4}\sum_{j=1}^{n+1}(\bar{z}_j dz_j - z_j d\bar{z}_j)) = \ker(\frac{1}{2}\sum_{j=1}^{n+1}r_j^2d\theta_j)$, where z_j , $j = 1, 2, \ldots, n+1$, are coordinates on \mathbf{C}^{n+1} and $z_j = r_j e^{i\theta_j}$. We note that $(S^{2n+1} \setminus \{pt\}, \xi_{\text{std}}|_{T(S^{2n+1} \setminus \{pt\})})$ is contactomrophic to $(\mathbf{R}^{2n+1}, \xi_{\text{std}})$. We call $\{z_{n+1} = 0\} \cong S^{2n-1} \subset S^{2n+1}$ the standard sphere in S^{2n+1} .

The contact structure on a neighborhood of a contact submanifold is determined by its conformally symplectic normal bundle.

Theorem 2.2 ([21] Theorem 2.5.15). Let (N_i, η_i) , i = 0, 1, be contact manifolds with compact contact submanifolds (M_i, ξ_i) . Suppose there exists an isomorphism of conformally symplectic normal bundles $\Phi: CSN_{N_0}(M_0) \to CSN_{N_1}(M_1)$ that covers a contactomorphism $\phi: (M_0, \xi_0) \to (M_1, \xi_1)$. Then ϕ extends to a contactomorphism ψ of suitable neighborhoods $N(M_i)$ of M_i so that $d\psi|_{CSN_{N_0}(M_0)}$ and Φ are homotopic as conformally symplectic bundle isomorphisms.

Then, for a codimension two contact submanifold with trivial normal bundle, the following holds.

Proposition 2.3. Let (M, ξ) be a codimension two closed cooriented contact submanifold of (N, η) with trivial normal bundle. Then there

exists a neighborhood of M which is contactomorphic to $(M \times D_{\epsilon}^2, \ker(\alpha + r^2 d\theta))$ for some small positive real number ϵ , where α is a contact form for ξ and (r, θ) are polar coordinates on D_{ϵ}^2 .

Contact embeddings of closed contact manifolds have the isotopy extension property.

Theorem 2.4 ([21] Theorem 2.6.12). Let $j_t: (M,\xi) \to (N,\eta), t \in [0,1]$, be an isotopy of contact embeddings of a closed contact manifold (M,ξ) in (N,η) . Then there is a compactly supported contact isotopy ψ_t of (N,η) such that $\psi_t \circ j_0 = j_t$.

It is easy to see that the connected sum of contact submanifolds is a contact submanifold of the connected sum of contact manifolds.

Lemma 2.5. If (M_i, ξ_i) is a contact submanifold of (N_i, η_i) for i = 1, 2, then $(M_1 \# M_2, \xi_1 \# \xi_2)$ is a contact submanifold of $(N_1 \# N_2, \eta_1 \# \eta_2)$.

2.2. The self-linking numbers of null-homologous transverse knots. The self-linking number of a null-homologous oriented transverse knot L and its Seifert surface Σ_L in a contact 3-manifold is the linking number of L and L' where L' is a push-off of L along a nonvanishing vector field given by a trivialization of ξ over Σ_L . We note that the self-linking number does not depend on the orientation of L.

Proposition 2.6 (Bennequin [1], see also [15] Section 2.6.4). Let L be a transverse knot which is a closed braid around the z-axis in (\mathbf{R}^3 , ker α_+) or (\mathbf{R}^3 , ker α_-), where $\alpha_+ = dz + \frac{1}{2}(xdy - ydx)$ and $\alpha_- = dz - \frac{1}{2}(xdy - ydx)$. If L is the closure of an element b of the braid group B_k of k strands, then sl(L) = e(b) - k when L is in (\mathbf{R}^3 , ker α_+) and sl(L) = e(b) + k when L is in (\mathbf{R}^3 , ker α_-), where e(b) denotes the sum of the exponents of b with respect to the standard generators.

The formulas for α_+ and α_- reflect the fact that there is an orientation reversing contactomorphism $(\mathbf{R}^3, \ker \alpha_+) \to (\mathbf{R}^3, \ker \alpha_-), (x, y, z) \mapsto (-x, y, z).$

2.3. Homotopy classes of oriented 2-plane fields on oriented 3-manifolds. For an almost complex 4-manifold (X, J) whose almost complex boundary is (M, ξ) , if the first Chern class $c_1(\xi)$ is a torsion class, then we can define an invariant $d_3(\xi) \in \mathbf{Q}$ of ξ by

$$d_3(\xi) = \frac{1}{4}(c_1^2(X,J) - 3\sigma(X) - 2\chi(X)),$$

where $\sigma(X)$ and $\chi(X)$ are the signature of X and the Euler characteristic of X, respectively, see [23, Definition 4.15]. Here, we use the notation $d_3(\xi)$ following [7]. Gompf showed that certain homotopy classes of 2-plane fields on a 3-manifold are classified by the homotopy classes over the 2-skeleton and d_3 -invariants in some cases, see [7, Theorem 2.5].

Theorem 2.7 (Gompf [23] Theorem 4.16). Let ξ_i , i = 1, 2, be positive 2-plane fields on a closed oriented connected 3-manifold M such that (M, ξ_i) are the almost complex boundaries of (X_i, J_i) , respectively. If ξ_1 and ξ_2 are homotopic on the 2-skeleton and $c_1(\xi_1) = c_1(\xi_2)$ is a torsion class, then ξ_1 and ξ_2 are homotopic on M if and only if $d_3(\xi_1) = d_3(\xi_2)$.

For S^3 , there exists a one-to-one correspondence between the homotopy classes of 2-plane fields on S^3 and $\mathbf{Z} - \frac{1}{2}$ so that $d_3(\xi_{\text{std}}) = -\frac{1}{2}$, see [7].

2.4. Overtwisted contact structures in dimension three. Eliashberg [12] defined and classified overtwisted contact structures in dimension three.

Definition 2.8. An embedded disk Δ in a contact 3-manifold (M, ξ) is an overtwisted disk if its boundary $\partial \Delta$ is a Legendrian curve whose surface framing coincides with its contact framing and the characteristic foliation Δ_{ξ} contains a unique singular point in the interior of Δ . A contact 3-manifold is overtwisted if it contains an overtwisted disk.

Fix a point p in a 3-manifold M and an embedded disk Δ centered at p in M. Let $\mathfrak{Cont}_{\mathrm{ot}}(M, \Delta)$ be the space of overtwisted positive contact structures on M which have the disk Δ as an overtwisted disk and $\mathfrak{Dist}(M, \Delta)$ be the space of cooriented 2-plane fields on M that are tangent to Δ at p.

Theorem 2.9 (Eliashberg [12]). The inclusion map

 $j \colon \mathfrak{Cont}_{\mathrm{ot}}(M, \Delta) \to \mathfrak{Dist}(M, \Delta)$

is a (weak) homotopy equivalence.

For S^3 , connected components of $\mathfrak{Dist}(M, \Delta)$ are labelled by d_3 -invariants by Theorem 2.7. By Theorem 2.9, the overtwisted contact structure on S^3 with the d_3 -invariant $m - \frac{1}{2}$ is well-defined and we denote it by ξ_m .

There is an operation called a *half Lutz twist* along a transverse knot in a contact 3-manifold which makes the given contact structure overtwisted. By a half Lutz twist along a transverse knot in a contact 3-sphere, d_3 -invariant changes as follows.

Proposition 2.10 (Ding, Geiges and Stipsicz [8]). Let ξ be a positive contact structure on S^3 . If we obtain a contact structure ξ' from ξ by a half Lutz twist along a transverse knot K, then $d_3(\xi') = d_3(\xi) - sl(K)$.

2.5. Branched coverings. In this paper we use the term *branched* covering in the following sense.

Definition 2.11 (see [21] Definition 7.5.1). Let \widetilde{L} and L be (n + 2)dimensional smooth manifolds and K be an n-dimensional smooth submanifold of L. A differentiable map $p: \widetilde{L} \to L$ is called a *covering branched along* K or just a *branched covering* if

- $p|_{p^{-1}(L\setminus K)}$ is a covering map of degree m,
- $p^{-1}(x)$ is a set of m' points with m' < m for any $x \in K$,
- there is a neighborhood U_x of $x \in K$ such that for each component U of $p^{-1}(U_x)$ there are a positive integer k and diffeomorphisms $\tilde{h}: D^n \times D^2 \to U$ and $h: D^n \times D^2 \to U_x$ such that

the diagram
$$D^n \times D^2 \xrightarrow{\widetilde{h}} U$$

 $\downarrow^{p_k} \qquad \downarrow^{p|_U}$ commutes, where $p_k(y, z) =$
 $D^n \times D^2 \xrightarrow{h} U_x$
 (y, z^k) for $(y, z) \in D^n \times D^2 \subset D^n \times \mathbf{C}$.

If m' = m - 1 and k = 1 or 2, then we call $p: \tilde{L} \to L$ a simple branched covering. In this thesis, if K is a null-homologous closed oriented submanifold of an oriented manifold L with trivial normal bundle, a k-fold cyclic branched covering is a covering determined by the kernel of the composition of maps $\pi_1(L \setminus K) \to H_1(L \setminus K; \mathbf{Z}) \to \mathbf{Z} \to \mathbf{Z}/k\mathbf{Z}$, where the first map is the abelianization and the second map is a homomorphism given by intersection with some chosen compact connect oriented codimension one submanifold bounded by K. If L is a sphere and K is a closed connected oriented submanifold, then a k-fold cyclic branched covering is unique since $H_1(L \setminus K; \mathbf{Z}) \cong \mathbf{Z}$ by the Alexander duality. In this case we denote \tilde{L} by $L_{K,k}$.

For a covering $p: \widetilde{L} \to L$ branched along K, if L is equipped with a contact structure ξ and K is a contact submanifold of (L,ξ) , then \widetilde{L} has a natural contact structure induced by p which is unique up to isotopy.

Theorem 2.12 (Geiges [20], Öztürk and Niederkrüger [45]). Let $p: \widetilde{L} \to L$ be a covering branched along a smooth submanifold $K \subset L$. Assume that L has a contact structure $\xi = \ker \alpha$ such that K intersects ξ transversely and $\xi \cap TK$ is a contact structure on K. Then there is a unique

(up to isotopy) contact structure ξ_p on \widetilde{L} . ξ_p is given by a contact form β_1 that can be connected to $\beta_0 = p^* \alpha$ by a path β_t , $t \in [0, 1]$, where β_t is a contact form for t > 0 and $d\left(\frac{\partial \beta_t}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0}\right)$ restricts to a positive area form on each (naturally oriented) fiber of the normal bundle of the singular set in \widetilde{L} .

If L is a sphere and K is a closed connected oriented submanifold and $p: \widetilde{L} \to L$ is the k-fold cyclic branched covering as above, we denote the unique induced contact structure up to contactomorphism on $L_{K,k}$ by $\xi_{K,k}$.

For a simple covering of a contact 3-manifold branched along a transverse knot, the induced contact structure is altered when we alter the transverse knot by a (negative) stabilization as in the following.

Proposition 2.13 (see [17]). Let $p: L \to L$ be a simple branched covering of a closed oriented 3-manifold with branch locus $B \subset L$. Let ξ be a contact structure on L and K be a transverse knot in (L, ξ) and K' the (negative) stabilization of K. Let ξ_K and $\xi_{K'}$ be contact structures on \widetilde{L} induced by a covering p branched along K and K', respectively. Then $\xi_{K'}$ is obtained from ξ_K by connected sum with the overtwisted contact structure (S^3, ξ_1) , where $d_3(\xi_1) = \frac{1}{2}$. In particular, $\xi_{K'}$ is overtwisted, homotopic to ξ_K over the 2-skeleton, and has d_3 -invariant (when it is defined) $d_3(\xi_{K'}) = d_3(\xi_K) + 1$.

3. TOPOLOGICAL BRAIDED EMBEDDINGS

Definition 3.1. Given an *n*-manifold Y, a braid about Y is an embedding of an *n*-manifold M in $Y \times D^2$

$$e\colon M\to Y\times D^2$$

such that $\pi \circ e \colon M \to Y$ is a branched covering map, where $\pi \colon Y \times D^2 \to Y$ is the projection onto the first factor. Moreover, we say a branched covering $p \colon M \to Y$ can be *braided about* Y if there is a function $f \colon M \to D^2$ such that

$$e: M \to Y \times D^2: x \mapsto (p(x), f(x))$$

is an embedding (and hence represents M as a braid about Y). If Y is embedded in a (n + 2)-manifold W with trivial normal bundle and Mis braided about Y, then clearly M embeds in W and this is called a *braided embedding of* M *in* W (braided about Y).

Theorem 3.2 (Etnyre and F. [17]). Let $p: M \to Y$ be a cyclic covering of a closed oriented n-manifold Y branched along a null-homologous submanifold $B \subset Y$ with trivial normal bundle. Then there is a function $f: M \to D^2$ such that

$$e: M \to Y \times D^2: x \mapsto (p'(x), f(x))$$

represents M as a braid about Y, where p' is homotopic to p through cyclic branched coverings.

For 2-fold branched coverings in dimension 2, 3 and 4, this theorem was previously proven in [4].

Proof. Let S be a Seifert hypersurface for B, that is, a codimension 1 connected submanifold S of Y such that $B = \partial S$, corresponding to a given cyclic branched covering. We will define in the next paragraph a smooth function $h: Y \to \mathbf{C}$ such that 0 is a regular value, $h^{-1}(0) = B$ and for any loop γ in the complement of B its algebraic intersection with S is given by the winding number of $h \circ \gamma$ about $0 \in \mathbf{C}$. Having defined the function h, let

$$X = \{(x, z) \in Y \times \mathbf{C} | z^n = h(x)\}.$$

It is clear that the map $p': X \to Y : (x, z) \to x$ is the *n*-fold cyclic covering of Y branched along B (indeed it is clearly an *n*-fold covering map in the complement of the branch locus and unwraps each meridian as desired) that is homotopic to p. Thus X is diffeomorphic to M and the restriction of the projection $Y \times \mathbf{C} \to \mathbf{C}$ to X is the desired function f.

Now we construct h. We use S to provide a framing of the normal bundle of B and we use this framing to identify a tubular neighborhood of B with $N = B \times D^2$, where we are thinking of D^2 as the unit disk in \mathbb{C} and $S \cap N$ agrees with B times the positive real axis. Let $h: B \times D^2 \to D^2$ be the projection and extend it to all of Y as follows. Identify a neighborhood of $S \cap (Y - N)$ with $N' = S \times (-\epsilon, \epsilon)$ for some small $\epsilon > 0$ and define h on $S \times (-\epsilon, \epsilon)$ by $h(x, t) = e^{it}$. Notice that we have h defined on $\partial(\overline{Y - N \cup N'})$ so that the image is contained in ∂D^2 minus a neighborhood of 1. That is, the image is contained in an interval in ∂D^2 and hence we can extend h over $Y - (N \cup N')$. We approximate h by a smooth function relative to N and replace hby it. For a C^0 -close approximation h, 0 is still a regular value and $B = h^{-1}(0)$.

4. Contact braided embeddings

In this section we show that braided embeddings about a contact submanifold can be made to be contact embeddings. **Theorem 4.1** (Etnyre and F. [17]). Let M and Y be closed oriented (2n + 1)-manifolds and

$$e: M \to Y \times D^2: x \mapsto (p(x), f(x))$$

a braided embedding of M about Y such that the branched covering $p: M \to Y$ whose branch locus $B \subset Y$ is not multiply ramified (that is, at most one component in the pre-image of each component of Bis ramified). Then there is an orientation on B with the following property. For a contact structure $\xi = \ker \alpha$ on Y such that B is isotoped to a positive contact submanifold B', we obtain the contact structure ξ' induced on M by the isotoped covering p' branched along the positive contact submanifold B', and e can be isotoped to a contact embedding of (M, ξ') in $(Y \times D^2, \ker(\alpha + r^2 d\theta))$.

This theorem gives a way to isotope certain embeddings of 3-manifolds in S^5 to be transverse contact embeddings.

Corollary 4.2 (Etnyre and F. [17] Theorem 1.26). If an embedding of a 3-manifold M in S^5 can be isotoped to be braided about the standardly embedded S^3 , then it can be isotoped to be transverse to the standard contact structure ξ_{std} in such a way that the induced plane field on Mis a contact structure.

Proof of Corollary 4.2 [17]. The standard embedding of S^3 in S^5 gives a contact embedding of the standard contact structures. Thus by Proposition 2.3, S^3 has a neighborhood $S^3 \times D^2$ with contact structure given by ker($\alpha_{\rm std} + r^2 d\theta$), where $\alpha_{\rm std}$ is a contact form for the standard contact structure on S^3 .

To use Theorem 4.1, we show how one can isotope the embedding so that branched covering corresponding to the embedding has a branch locus which is not multiply ramified. Let \widetilde{B}_1 , \widetilde{B}_2 be distinct components of the singular set in M lying above a component B_0 of the branch locus of p. There exist neighborhoods \widetilde{N} of \widetilde{B}_1 and N of B_0 such that \widetilde{N} does not contain singular points other than \widetilde{B}_1 and $N \cong S^1 \times D^2$ does not contain branch points other than B_0 , where B_0 is identified with $S^1 \times \{0\}$. Let ψ_t , $t \in [0, 1]$, be an isotopy generated by a vector field with support in N, tangent to the D^2 -factors of $N \cong S^1 \times D^2$, and non-zero along B_0 . We now define the map $p_t \colon M \to Y$ to be pon $M \setminus \widetilde{N}$ and $\psi_t \circ p$ on \widetilde{N} . This is clearly an isotopy of p and and hence induces an isotopy of $e_t = (p_t, f) \colon M \to S^3 \times D^2$ of e through braided embeddings and for t > 0 the number of ramified components above B_0 is reduced by one. By repeating this process finitely many times, we can isotope the given e to a braided embedding whose branch locus is not multiply ramified. Since any link in S^3 can be isotoped to be transverse to the standard contact structure on S^3 we can clearly isotope the given embedding to satisfy the hypothesis of Theorem 4.1 and thus the theorem gives the desired isotopy.

Lemma 4.3 (Etnyre and F. [17]). Let M and Y be closed oriented (2n + 1)-manifolds and

$$e \colon M \to Y \times D^2 \colon x \mapsto (p(x), f(x))$$

a braided embedding of M about Y. Denote the branch locus of p by $B \subset Y$. For a contact structure $\xi = \ker \alpha$ on Y in which B is a positive contact submanifold, let ξ' be the contact structure on M induced by the branched covering p.

Let \widetilde{B}' be the subset of $\widetilde{B} = p^{-1}(B)$ consisting of the singular points. If for any $x \in \widetilde{B}'$ the map $df_x \colon T_x M \to T_{f(x)} D^2$ is orientation preserving when restricted to the fiber $\nu_x(\widetilde{B}')$ of the normal bundle $\nu(\widetilde{B}')$ of \widetilde{B}' , where $\nu_x(\widetilde{B}')$ is oriented by the orientations on \widetilde{B}' and M, then for sufficiently small R > 0 the embedding

 $e_R \colon M \to Y \times D^2 \colon x \mapsto (p(x), Rf(x))$

is a contact embedding of (M,ξ') in $(Y \times D^2, \ker(\alpha + r^2 d\theta))$.

Proof of Lemma 4.3 [17]. Let $\beta_R = e_R^*(\alpha + r^2 d\theta) = p^*\alpha + Rf^*(r^2 d\theta)$. Then

$$\beta_R \wedge (d\beta_R)^n = p^*(\alpha \wedge (d\alpha)^n) + R\left(p^*((d\alpha)^n) \wedge f^*(r^2 d\theta)\right) + 2nR\left(p^*(\alpha \wedge (d\alpha)^{n-1}) \wedge f^*(r dr \wedge d\theta)\right)$$

Away from \widetilde{B}' , p is a covering map so the first term is a positive multiple of the volume form. Thus for sufficiently small R, β_R is a contact form on the complement of a neighborhood of \widetilde{B}' . On \widetilde{B}' recall that p has rank 2n-1 and more specifically is a covering map when restricted to \widetilde{B}' and has 0 derivative in the normal directions to \widetilde{B}' . Thus the first two terms in the expression for $\beta_R \wedge (d\beta_R)^n$ above are zero. The last term is a positive multiple of the volume form for M. This is clear by the fact that $p^*(\alpha \wedge (d\alpha)^{n-1})$ is a positive volume form on \widetilde{B}' because Bis a positive contact submanifold and that by the hypothesis on f in the lemma $f^*(r \, dr \wedge d\theta)$ is a positive area form on the fiber of the normal bundle $\nu(\widetilde{B}')$. Moreover, it is clear from the expression of β_R that β_R gives the contact structure ξ' coming from the covering $p: M \to Y$ branched along B.

By the proof of Theorem 3.2 and Lemma 4.3, we have the following.

Corollary 4.4 (Etnyre and F. [17]). Let $(Y, \xi = \ker \alpha)$ be a contact (2n + 1)-manifold and B a codimension two contact submanifold that is null-homologous and has trivial normal bundle. Let (M, ξ') an n-fold cyclic covering branched along B with the contact structure ξ' induced from ξ . Then there is a braided contact embedding of (M, ξ') in $(Y \times D^2, \ker(\alpha + r^2 d\theta))$.

Proof of Theorem 4.1 [17]. Let $e: M \to Y \times D^2$ be an embedding in the statement of the theorem. Let $\widetilde{B} = p^{-1}(B)$ and \widetilde{B}' be the subset of \widetilde{B} consisting of the singular points. By hypothesis, p maps bijectively the components of \widetilde{B}' to the components of B.

At a point $x \in \widetilde{B}'$, notice that df_x is an isomorphism from the fiber $\nu_x(\widetilde{B}')$ of the normal bundle of \widetilde{B}' to $T_{f(x)}D^2$. The reason is that the map $de_x : T_x M \to T_{e(x)}(Y \times D^2)$ has rank 2n + 1 and $dp_x : T_x M \to T_{p(x)}Y$ has only rank 2n-1. Thus at each point of \widetilde{B}' there is an induced orientation on each fiber $\nu_x(\widetilde{B}')$ and this orients each component of \widetilde{B}' , which in turn induce an orientation on B via p.

Now if B can be isotoped to a positive contact submanifold then there is an ambient isotopy $\phi_t \colon Y \to Y, t \in [0, 1]$, that realizes this isotopy. Thus there is a diffeomorphism of $Y \times D^2$ that takes e to $e' \colon M \to Y \times D^2 \colon x \to (\phi_1 \circ p(x), f(x))$. Then e' realizes M as braided about Y and the corresponding branch locus is a contact submanifold which is smoothly isotopic to B. The theorem now follows from Lemma 4.3. \Box

5. Contact embeddings of 3-manifolds in the standard 5-sphere

5.1. **Proof of Theorem 1.3.** In this subsection we prove the following theorem.

Theorem (Theorem 1.3). Any positive contact structure on S^3 can be embedded in (S^5, ξ_{std}) so that the embedding is isotopic to the standard one.

To prove this theorem we prepare several lemmas. By [13], it is known that any transverse unknot in the tight S^3 is classified up to isotopy among transverse knots by its self-linking number. By [10] and [16], it is known that any transverse unknot in any overtwisted S^3 is classified up to global contactomorphisms by its self-linking number and it is loose, i.e., its complement is overtwisted. Thus in the following lemma, the transverse unknot U_i ($i \in \mathbb{Z}$) is well-defined.

Lemma 5.1. Let k be a positive integer and let m and n be integers.

- (1) The k-fold cyclic covering of (S^3, ξ_{std}) branched along the transverse unknot U_0 with $sl(U_0) = -1$ is (S^3, ξ_{std}) . The k-fold cyclic covering of (S^3, ξ_{std}) branched along the transverse unknot U_m with $sl(U_m) = 2m 1 < -1$ is $(S^3, \xi_{-(k-1)m})$.
- (2) The k-fold cyclic covering of (S^3, ξ_n) branched along the transverse unknot U_m with $sl(U_m) = 2m 1$ is $(S^3, \xi_{kn-(k-1)m})$.

Proof. The first statement of (1) is immediate since U_0 is the binding of the trivial open book which supports (S^3, ξ_{std}) . The second statement of (1) is well-known (see [27]). The k-fold cyclic covering of (S^3, ξ_{std}) branched along U_{-1} gives the overtwisted contact structure with $d_3 =$ -1/2 + k - 1 and hence it is $\xi_{k-1} = \xi_{-(k-1)\cdot(-1)}$. Since U_{-1} is the negative stabilization of U_0 , a negative stabilization of a branch locus contributes to decreasing the self-linking number of the branch locus by 2 and increasing the d_3 -invariant of the k-fold cyclic branched covering by k - 1. Hence by taking negative stabilizations of $U_0 |m|$ times, we obtain U_m and $\xi_{-(k-1)m}$.

Now we show (2). For any integer n, consider the closure L_n of $\sigma_1^{-n+2} \in B_2$ in (S^3, ξ_{std}) , where B_2 is the braid group with two strands generated by σ_1 . Since $sl(L_n) = -n + 2 - 2 = -n$, the half Lutz twist along L_n in (S^3, ξ_{std}) gives (S^3, ξ_n) by Proposition 2.10. After operating the half Lutz twist, for any n, the axis of L_n is the transverse unknot U_2 with $sl(U_2) = 3$. The k-fold cyclic covering of (S^3, ξ_n) branched along U_2 is the overtwisted contact structure on S^3 given by the half Lutz twist along the closure L_n^k of $\sigma_1^{(-n+2)k}$. Since $sl(L_n^k) = (-n+2)k-2 = -\{kn - (k-1)2\}$, this contact structure is $\xi_{kn-(k-1)2}$. We observe that a negative stabilization (resp. destabilization) of a branch locus increases (resp. decreases) the d_3 -invariant of the contact structure obtained by the k-fold cyclic branched covering by k - 1 and that any transverse unknot in any overtwisted S^3 is loose and hence any cyclic covering of any overtwisted S^3 branched along any transverse unknot is overtwisted. By taking stabilizations or destabilizations |m| times, (2) follows.

Lemma 5.2 (Etnyre and F. [17]). There exists a braided embedding

$$e: S^3 \to S^3 \times \mathbf{C} : x \mapsto (p(x), h(x))$$

such that p is the 2-fold cyclic branched covering map with branch locus the unknot and the embedding of $S^3 \to S^5$ coming from e is isotopic to the standard embedding.

Proof of Lemma 5.2 [17]. We think of S^5 as the unit sphere in \mathbb{C}^3 and give \mathbb{C}^3 coordinates (z_1, z_2, z_3) . We then consider the standard embedding of S^3 in S^5 given by $S^3 = \{z_3 = 0\} \cap S^5$ and the unknot in S^3

given by $U = \{z_2 = z_3 = 0\} \cap S^5$. Denote by $U' = \{z_1 = z_2 = 0\}$ the circle in S^5 that is complementary to S^3 (that is one can see S^5 as the join of S^3 and U'). Notice that $C = S^5 - U'$ is diffeomorphic to $S^3 \times \mathbb{C}$ by the diffeomorphism

$$S^3 \times \mathbf{C} \to C : ((z_1, z_2), z_3) \mapsto \left(\frac{z_1}{\sqrt{1 + |z_3|^2}}, \frac{z_2}{\sqrt{1 + |z_3|^2}}, \frac{z_3}{\sqrt{1 + |z_3|^2}}\right)$$

and the map

$$\pi \colon C \to S^3 \colon (z_1, z_2, z_3) \mapsto \frac{1}{\sqrt{|z_1|^2 + |z_2|^2}}(z_1, z_2)$$

is the projection map to S^3 .

Consider the complex polynomial $p_{(a,b)}(z_1, z_2, z_3) = az_2 - bz_3^2$, where $(a,b) \in \mathbf{R}^2$. Notice that the zero set transversely intersects S^5 at the sphere $S_{(a,b)}$ for all (a,b) with $a \neq 0$. For $b' \neq 0$, consider the map $p: S_{(1,b')} \to S^3$ obtained by restricting π to $S_{(1,b')}$. We claim this is a 2-fold covering map branched along U. To see this, we first note that for each point $(z_1, z_2) \in S^3 - U$, we have $z_2 \neq 0$ so there are precisely 2 square roots $\pm \sqrt{z_2}$ of z_2 and we see that the map $(z_1, z_2) \mapsto \frac{1}{\sqrt{|z_1|^2 + |z_2|^2 + |z_2/b'|}} (z_1, z_2, \sqrt{z_2/b'})$ is a local section of $p: S_{(1,b')} \to S^3$. Thus we see that p is a 2-fold covering map from $S_{(1,b')} - p^{-1}(U)$ to $S^3 - U$. Moreover, for any $(z_1, z_2) \in U$ we see that $z_2 = 0$ so there is a unique square root and the only point in $S_{(1,b')}$ lying above it is $(z_1, 0, 0)$.

Thus we see that $S_{(1,b')}$ is a sphere that is braided about the standardly embedded S^3 in S^5 and realizing a 2-fold cyclic covering branched along the unknot U. Now we see that the spheres $S_{(1,t)}$ for $t \in [0,b']$ provide an isotopy from our braided sphere $S_{(1,b')}$ to the sphere $S_{(1,0)} =$ $\{z_2 = 0\}$ which is the standardly embedded sphere. \Box

Proof of Theorem 1.3. The standardly embedded (S^3, ξ_{std}) in (S^5, ξ_{std}) has a neighborhood $S^3 \times D^2$ contactomorphic to $(S^3 \times D_{\epsilon}^2, \ker(\alpha_{\text{std}} + r^2 d\theta))$ for some small $\epsilon > 0$, where $\xi_{\text{std}} = \ker \alpha_{\text{std}}$. Now consider the transverse unknot U_m with $sl(U_m) = 2m - 1 < -1$ in (S^3, ξ_{std}) and the 2-fold cyclic covering branched along it. By Lemma 5.2, the fact that any oriented knot is isotopic to a positive transverse knot, Theorem 4.1 and Lemma 5.1 (1), there is a contact embedding of $(S^3, \xi_m), m \ge 1$, in (S^5, ξ_{std}) which is isotopic to the standard embedding. By Lemma 5.1 (2), (S^3, ξ_m) for any m is the 2-fold cyclic covering of (S^3, ξ_1) branched along some transverse unknot. Thus arguing similarly we have a contact embedding of (S^3, ξ_m) in (S^5, ξ_{std}) which is isotopic to the standard embedding for any m.

5.2. **Proof of Theorem 1.5.** In this subsection we prove the following theorem.

Theorem (Theorem 1.5). Let M be a 3-manifold with no 2-torsion in its first homology group. Then a positive overtwisted contact structure ξ on M embeds in (S^5, ξ_{std}) if and only if $c_1(\xi) = 0$.

To prove this theorem we use the following fact for topological 3dimensional braid.

Theorem 5.3 (Hilden, Lozano and Montesinos [28]). Every closed oriented 3-manifold M can be braided about S^3 where the corresponding branched covering is a simple 3-fold branched covering.

From this we obtain.

Proposition 5.4 (Etnyre and F. [17]). Any closed oriented 3-manifold has some positive contact structure which can embed in (S^5, ξ_{std}) .

Remark 5.5. Given a contact embedding e of a 3-manifold M constructed as a braid about the standardly embedded S^3 as in the proof of Proposition 5.4, by applying the Alexander theorem for transverse links to the branch locus $B \subset S^3$ of the branched covering of the braided embedding, we can isotope B to a positive transverse braid about the transverse unknot. Then we can isotope the given contact embedding among contact embeddings to a contact embedding which is compatible with some supporting open book for the embedded contact 3-manifold and the standard open book which is a supporting open book for (S^5, ξ_{std}) .

Proof of Proposition 5.4 [17]. For a closed oriented 3-manifold M, Theorem 5.3 tells us that there is a braided embedding

$$e\colon M\to S^3\times D^2$$

such that the corresponding branched covering is a simple 3-fold branched covering. Thus *e* satisfies the hypothesis of Theorem 4.1 and since the branch locus can be isotoped to be a transverse link in (S^3, ξ_{std}) the contact structure ξ' induced on *M* by this branched covering contact embeds in $(S^3 \times D^2, \ker(\alpha_{\text{std}} + r^2 d\theta))$, where α_{std} is a contact form for the standard contact structure on S^3 .

Since the standard embedding of S^3 in S^5 is also an embedding of the standard contact structures, by Proposition 2.3, S^3 has a neighborhood

 $S^3 \times D^2$ in S^5 on which the contact structure is given by ker $(\alpha_{\text{std}} + r^2 d\theta)$. Since the contact embedding obtained in Theorem 4.1 can be arranged to be arbitrarily close to $S^3 \times \{(0,0)\}$, we see that M has a contact embedding in (S^5, ξ_{std}) that is arbitrarily close to the embedding of S^3 .

Proof of Theorem 1.5 [17]. By Proposition 5.4 we know that every 3manifold M has some contact structure ξ that embeds in (S^5, ξ_{std}) . By using Lemma 2.5 we know that $\xi \# \xi_n$ embeds for any overtwisted contact structure ξ_n on S^3 . Since there is no 2-torsion in the second cohomology of M, all overtwisted contact structures with trivial first Chern class on M is of the form $\xi \# \xi_n$ for some n and thus they all embed. \Box

5.3. Proof of Theorem 1.6 (1), (2) and a part of (3). In some 3-manifolds we can determine the embedability of contact structures by its first Chern classes. In this thesis, we prove the following theorem (1), (2) and (3) in the case of odd p's. The proof of (3) we give here is different from the one in [17] and for the complete proof of (3), see [17].

Theorem (Theorem 1.6). Let M be one of the following 3-manifolds.

- (1) $S^1 \times S^2$,
- (2) T^3 , or
- (3) a lens space L(p,q) (including S^3) with p odd or with p even and q = 1 or q = p - 1

Then a positive contact structure ξ on M embeds in (S^5, ξ_{std}) if and only if its first Chern class $c_1(\xi)$ is trivial.

Proof of Theorem 1.6 (1) (2) [17]. There is a unique tight contact structure ξ_{tt} on $S^1 \times S^2$ that is supported by the open book with annulus page and identity monodromy. Thus it is easy to see that it is obtained as the double covering of (S^3, ξ_{std}) branched along the unlink with both components being transverse knots of self-linking number -1. Now Corollary 4.4 allows us to embed ξ_{tt} in (S^5, ξ_{std}) . Since there is no 2-torsion in the homology of $S^1 \times S^2$, we see from Theorem 1.5 that all overtwisted contact structures with $c_1 = 0$ also embed.

For T^3 we see that all overtwisted contact structures with $c_1 = 0$ embed in (S^5, ξ_{std}) in a way similar to the previous case. A complete list of tight contact structures on T^3 is given by $\{\xi_n^{T^3}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}}$, where T^3 is identified with $\mathbb{R}^3/\mathbb{Z}^3$,

$$\xi_n^{T^3} = \ker(\cos 2\pi nz \, dx + \sin 2\pi nz \, dy)$$

and *n* is a positive integer, see [32]. It is easy to see that $\xi_n^{T^3}$ is an *n*-fold (ordinary) cyclic covering of $\xi_1^{T^3}$ unwrapped in the direction of the *z*-coordinate. We notice that if $h: T^3 \to S^1$ is the projection onto the *z*-coordinate thought of as the unit circle in **C** then the proof of Theorem 3.2 gives a braided embedding of the *n*-fold (ordinary) covering of T^3 in $T^3 \times D^2$ and since there is no branch locus to worry about Theorem 4.1 clearly gives a contact embedding of $(T^3, \xi_n^{T^3})$ in $(T^3 \times D^2, \ker(\alpha_1 + r^2 d\theta))$, where α_1 is the contact form for $\xi_1^{T^3}$. Thus if we can embed $(T^3, \xi_1^{T^3})$ in (S^5, ξ_{std}) then we will have an embedding of all tight contact structures on T^3 .

There are many ways to construct Legendrian embeddings of T^2 in (S^5, ξ_{std}) . For example, we can use front projections to construct ones, see [11]. A Legendrian T^2 has a neighborhood contactomorphic to a neighborhood of the zero section in $T^*T^2 \times \mathbf{R}$ with the contact structure ker $(dz - \lambda)$, where λ is the Liouville 1-form on T^*T^2 and zis the coordinate on \mathbf{R} . Let S_{ϵ} be the ϵ -sphere bundle in T^*T^2 . It is easy to see that λ restricted to S_{ϵ} is a contact 1-form defining $\xi_1^{T^3}$ and thus $(T^3, \xi_1^{T^3})$ contact embeds in (S^5, ξ_{std}) .

To prove Theorem 1.6 (3) for odd p's we use invertible Legendrian links. The following definition of *strongly invertible Legendrian links* is the Legendrian version of the strongly invertible links introduced by Montesinos [38].

Definition 5.6. A Legendrian link $L = L_1 \cup L_2 \cup \cdots \cup L_k$ in $(\mathbf{R}^3, \xi_{\text{std}} = \ker(dz - ydx))$ is called *strongly invertible* if L is Legendrian isotopic to a link L' such that each component of L' is invariant under the involution ($\mathbf{Z}/2\mathbf{Z}$ -action) generated by $(x, y, z) \mapsto (-x, -y, z)$ and each component has precisely two fixed points under this involution.

We note that this involution extends to an involution of (S^3, ξ_{std}) , for example, in the following way. We trivially embed $(\mathbf{R}^3, \xi_{\text{std}})$ in $(\mathbf{R}^2 \times S^1, \ker(dz - ydx))$, where z is the S¹-coordinate. Clearly the involution extends to the involution generated by $(x, y, z) \mapsto (-x, -y, z)$. By the diffeomorphism defined by $(x, y, z) \mapsto (x/2, y, z - xy/2)$ we can identified $(\mathbf{R}^2 \times S^1, \ker(dz - ydx))$ with $(\mathbf{R}^2 \times S^1, \ker(dz + xdy - ydx))$. The latter is completed to (S^3, ξ_{std}) by gluing $S^1 \times D^2$ with a tight contact structure which is invariant in the S¹-direction. Thus the involution extends to (S^3, ξ_{std}) .

For $r \in \mathbf{Q} \cup \{\infty\}$, a contact *r*-surgery along a Legendrian knot *K* is the operation consisting of a Dehn surgery along *K* whose framing is *r* with respect to the contact framing of *K* and an extension by a tight contact structure to the glued-in solid torus. Though it is not welldefined for general $r \in \mathbf{Q}$, when r = 1/l, $l \in \mathbf{Z}$, it is well-defined since there is a unique tight contact structure up to isotopy on $S^1 \times D^2$ with a given boundary condition [22] [30]. For more detail about contact surgery, see[7].

Proposition 5.7. Let $L = L_1 \cup L_2 \cup \cdots \cup L_k$ be a strongly invertible Legendrian link in $(\mathbf{R}^3, \xi_{std}) \subset (S^3, \xi_{std})$. We denote the contact 3-manifold obtained by the contact (-1)-surgeries along each L_i 's by $(M, \xi(L))$. Then $(M, \xi(L))$ is isotopic to the contact structure obtained by a double covering of (S^3, ξ_{std}) branched along some transverse link.

Proof. First by isotoping L so that it is invariant under the involution. Moreover, we further isotope L so that near each fixed point L is defined by an arc $\{0\} \times [-\epsilon, \epsilon] \times \{c\} \subset \mathbf{R}^3$ for some small positive real number ϵ and some real number c. For each component L_i there exists a neighborhood $N(L_i)$ such that

- (1) $N(L_i)$ is contactomorphic to $(S^1 \times D^2_{\delta_i}, \ker(\cos\theta dx \sin\theta dy))$ with coordinates $(\theta, x, y) \in S^1 \times D^2$ for some small δ_i and L_i maps to $S^1 \times \{(0, 0)\},$
- (2) $N(L_i)$ is invariant under the involution,
- (3) the involution on $N(L_i)$ induces the involution generated by $(\theta, x, y) \mapsto (-\theta, x, -y)$ on $S^1 \times D^2_{\delta_i}$.

The condition (3) is satisfied as follows. In the proof of the tubular neighborhood theorem of Legendrian submanifolds (see for example [21] Theorem 2.5.8), first we construct a diffeomorphism induced by the isomorphism of normal bundles of Legendrian submanifolds and then apply the Moser type argument. We first construct a isomorphism from the normal bundle over $[0, \pi] \times \{(0, 0)\}$ whose total space is identified with $[0, \pi] \times D_{\delta_i}^2$ to the normal bundle of the 'half' arc in L_i which near each endpoints is identified with a neighborhood of the form $\{(x, y, z); x^2 + z^2 \leq \delta'_i, -\epsilon'_i \leq y \leq 0\}$ or $\{(x, y, z); x^2 + z^2 \leq \delta'_i, 0 \leq y \leq \epsilon'_i\}$ for some small δ'_i and ϵ'_i so that the induced diffeomorphism is already a strict contactomorphism in these regions. Then we apply the Moser type argument relative to these regions. We can extend this contactomorphism to $[-\pi, 0] \times D_{\delta_i}^2$ by using the involution given by $(\theta, x, y) \mapsto (-\theta, x, -y)$ and then (3) is satisfied.

To perform the contact (-1)-surgery, first we remove this $N(L_i)$, reglue $S^1 \times D^2$ and then extend the induced contact structure near the boundary to the whole glued-in $S^1 \times D^2$ by a tight contact structure. We first give a diffeomorphism f from a product neighborhood of $\partial(S^1 \times D^2)$ to a product neighborhood of $\partial N(L_i)$ (which is identified with $\partial(S^1 \times D^2_{\delta_i}))$ given by $(\Theta, R, \Phi) \mapsto (-\Phi + \Theta, R, 2\Phi - \Theta) = (\theta, r, \phi)$ where (r, ϕ) are polar coordinates on $D^2_{\delta_i}$. Since $\partial(S^1 \times D^2_{\delta_i})$ is convex with respect to the contact vector field $r\partial_r$ and has two dividing curves with slope -1, f makes $\partial(S^1 \times D^2)$ convex with respect to $R\partial_R$ and to have two dividing curves with slope ∞ . Thus the extension to the glued-in $S^1 \times D^2$ by a tight contact structure is unique up to isotopy.

The problem is whether we can take this extension so that it is invariant under the involution generated by $(\Theta, R, \Phi) \mapsto (-\Theta, R, -\Phi)$. Now for a positive real number c, we take a smooth function $f_c(R)$ on $\mathbf{R}_{\geq 0}$ which has the support on (c, 5c), is equal to 1 on [2c, 4c], is nondecreasing on [c, 2c] and is nonincreasing on [4c, 5c]. We define a family of 1-forms $\{\beta_{c,t}\}_{t\in[0,1]}$ on $S^1 \times \mathbf{R}^2$ by

$$\beta_{c,t} = d(R\cos\Phi) + R\sin\Phi d\Theta + (1 - tf_c(R))\cos\Phi dR - R\sin\Phi d\Phi$$
$$= 2d(R\cos\Phi) + R\sin\Phi d\Theta - tf_c(R)\cos\Phi dR.$$

Then

$$d\beta_{c,t} = \sin \Phi dR \wedge d\Theta + R \cos \Phi d\Phi \wedge d\Theta - tf_c(R) \sin \Phi dR \wedge d\Phi,$$

 $\beta_{c,t} \wedge d\beta_{c,t} = (2 - tf_c(R))RdR \wedge d\Phi \wedge d\Theta.$

Thus $\{\beta_{c,t}\}_{t\in[0,1]}$ is a family of contact forms on $S^1 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ which are fixed on $\{0 \leq R \leq c, R \geq 5c\}$. Moreover, ker $\beta_{c,0}$ is a tight contact structure, and hence ker $\beta_{c,t}$ is tight for any $t \in [0, 1]$. The above glued-in $S^1 \times D^2$ has a contact structure near its boundary given by

$$\cos(-\Phi+\Theta)d\{R\cos(2\Phi-\Theta)\} - \sin(-\Phi+\Theta)d\{R\sin(2\Phi-\Theta)\}\$$

= $d(R\cos\Phi) + R\sin\Phi d\Theta - R\sin\Phi d\Phi.$

Thus by taking $\beta_{\delta_i/3,1}$, we can extend the given contact structure near the boundary to the whole glued-in $S^1 \times D^2$ by a tight contact structure which is invariant under the given involution.

Since the double covering of (S^3, ξ_{std}) branched along the standard unknot is (S^3, ξ_{std}) and the above involution induces this branched covering, $(S^3 \setminus (\bigcup_{i=1}^k N(L_i)), \xi_{\text{std}})$ is obtained from the double covering of (S^3, ξ_{std}) branched along the standard unknot by removing the preimage of the union of k tight 3-balls. On the other hand, by taking smaller δ_i 's if necessary, $(S^1 \times D_{2\delta_i}^2, \ker(\beta_{\delta_i/3,1}))$ can be identified with a neighborhood of the standard Legendrian unknot (which is in the strongly invertible position) in (S^3, ξ_{std}) equivariantly. Thus the gluedin $S^1 \times D^2$ is obtained from the double covering of (S^3, ξ_{std}) branched along the standard unknot as the preimage of a tight 3-ball. By these observations $(M, \xi(L))$ can be seen as a double branched covering of a contact manifold obtained from (S^3, ξ_{std}) by removing k tight 3-balls and re-gluing k tight 3-balls. Thus it is the double covering of (S^3, ξ_{std}) branched along a transverse link.

For integers p, q with p > q > 0, we have the unique continued fraction expansion of -p/q

$$-\frac{p}{q} = r_0 - \frac{1}{r_1 - \frac{1}{r_2 \cdots - \frac{1}{r_k}}}$$

with $r_i \leq -2$ for i = 0, 1, ..., k. We denote this continued fraction by $[r_0, r_1, ..., r_k]$.

Theorem 5.8 (Giroux [22], Honda [30]). Let L(p,q) be a lens space and assume that -p/q has the continued fraction representation $[r_0, r_1, \ldots, r_k]$. Then there exist $|(r_0+1)(r_1+1)\cdots(r_k+1)|$ tight contact structures up to isotopy all of which are distinguished by their homotopy classes as 2-plane fields and are Stein fillable. Moreover, their homotopy classes are distinguished by their first Chern classes when p is odd.

We can draw a surgery diagram for any of the above tight contact structures by using a chain $L = L_1 \cup L_2 \cup \cdots \cup L_k$ of Legendrian unknots L_i 's, $i = 1, 2, \ldots, k$, and the surgery coefficient is given by $r_i = \text{tb}(L_i) - 1$ for each component L_i , where tb(K) is the Thurston-Bennequin number of a Legendrian knot K. Thus it is a contact (-1)surgery along L, see [30, Figure 16]. The first Chern class of the contact structure is calculated from this surgery diagram in terms of rotation numbers; $c_1(\xi) = \sum_{i=0}^k \operatorname{rot}(L_i)\mu_i$, where $\mu_i \in H^2(L(p,q); \mathbb{Z})$ is a cohomology class which is Poincaré dual to the oriented meridian circle of each component L_i of L, see [23, Proposition 2.3].



FIGURE 1. A Legendrian surgery diagram of a Stein fillable (hence tight) contact structure. It is a two component Legendrian link $L = L_1 \cup L_2$ with $tb(L_1) = -3$, $rot(L_1) = 0$, $tb(L_2) = -5$ and $rot(L_2) = 0$. Hence, $-\frac{p}{q} = (-3-1) - \frac{1}{-5-1} = -\frac{23}{6}$ and it represents a tight contact structure on L(23, 6).

Proof of Theorem 1.6 (3) for odd p's. First we note that the homotopy class of a plane field is determined by its first Chern class and d_3 invariant since $H^2(L(p,q); \mathbf{Z}) = \mathbf{Z}/p\mathbf{Z}$ has no 2-torsion. Since by Theorem 1.5 we know that any overtwisted contact structure on L(p,q)with trivial first Chern class embeds in (S^5, ξ_{std}) , it suffices to show that we can embed any tight contact structure with trivial first Chern class. We note that there may exist no such tight contact structures. If there exists a tight contact structure with trivial first Chern class, then all the coefficients r_i 's are even. Indeed, if $\xi = \ker \alpha$ is a positive tight contact structure, then $\xi' = \ker(-\alpha)$ is also a positive tight contact structure with $c_1(\xi) = -c_1(\xi')$. Hence, by Theorem 5.8, if there exists a tight contact structure with trivial first Chern class on L(p,q) for odd p, then the number of tight contact structures must be odd and thus all the r_i 's must be even. In this case we can draw a surgery digram of the tight contact structure with trivial first Chern class given by a strongly invertible Legendrian link along each component of which we do the contact (-1)-surgery, see for example Figure 1. Since by Corollary 4.4 any contact structure which is obtained as a double branched covering of (S^3, ξ_{std}) embeds in (S^5, ξ_{std}) , combining with Proposition 5.7, the statement follows.

Part 2. The relative Euler numbers of codimension two contact submanifolds and their Seifert hypersurfaces

6. Preliminaries to Part 2

6.1. The relative Euler number. In this subsection we define the relative Euler number, see also [42, Section 1].

Definition 6.1. Let *n* be a nonnegative integer. Let $(M, \xi = \ker \alpha)$ be a (2n + 3)-dimensional positive contact manifold and $(L, \xi|_{TL})$ be a (2n + 1)-dimensional orientable closed contact submanifold of (M, ξ) which is null-homologous in *M*. We take a codimension one compact connected smooth oriented submanifold Σ bounded by *L* whose orientation induces the orientation of $L = \partial \Sigma$ given by $\xi|_{TL}$. We refer Σ as a Seifert hypersurface of *L*. We take an outward vector field X_{Σ} along $\partial \Sigma = L$ which is tangent to $\xi|_{T\Sigma}$ and then we get the relative Euler class $e(\xi, X_{\Sigma}) \in H^{2n+2}(M, L; \mathbb{Z})$ of ξ relative to the section X_{Σ} as the obstruction to extend X_{Σ} to a nonvanishing section to ξ over (2n + 2)-dimensional skeleton of a cell decomposition of *M* relative to *L*. We define the relative Euler number $e_{\rm rel}(L, \Sigma) = -\langle e(\xi, X_{\Sigma}), [\Sigma, \partial \Sigma] \rangle$.

When the relative Euler number is independent of the choice of Seifert hypersurfaces, we denote it by $e_{\rm rel}(L)$. For example, when Mis a (2n + 3)-dimensional integral homology sphere and L is an oriented S^{2n+1} , the relative Euler number is independent of the choice of Seifert hypersurfaces since the Euler class $e(\xi) \in H^{2n+2}(M, \mathbb{Z}) \cong 0$ is trivial and the vector field X_{Σ} is unique up to homotopy among normal vector fields to L which are tangent to ξ . We note that X_{Σ} can be seen as a section of the conformally symplectic normal bundle of L which is trivial and whose total space is identified with a tubular neighborhood of L. Then the homotopical uniqueness of X_{Σ} follows from $H^1(L; \mathbb{Z}) \cong 0$ when dim $L \geq 3$ and from the fact that the Seifert framing is determined uniquely up to homotopy when dim L = 1.

Let Ω be a positive volume form on Σ . We define the characteristic foliation Σ_{ξ} on Σ by the flow line of the vector field Y defined by $\iota_Y \Omega = (\alpha \wedge (d\alpha)^n)|_{T\Sigma}$ (see [21] Definition 2.5.18 and Lemma 2.5.20). The line field $Y|_L$ with a suitable orientation can be used as the vector field X_{Σ} in the above definition. When singularities of the characteristic foliation Σ_{ξ} on Σ are isolated, the relative Euler number can be calculated as follows.

$$e_{\mathrm{rel}}(L,\Sigma) = -\sum_{q\in\mathrm{Sing}_+(\Sigma_{\xi})}\mathrm{Ind}(q) + \sum_{q\in\mathrm{Sing}_-(\Sigma_{\xi})}\mathrm{Ind}(q),$$

where $\operatorname{Sing}_{\pm}(\Sigma_{\xi})$ denote the set of positive and negative singularities of Σ_{ξ} , respectively, and $\operatorname{Ind}(q)$ denotes the index of the isolated singularity q.

In the case where dim M = 3 and dim L = 1, the relative Euler number of a null-homologous positive transverse knot L and its Seifert surface Σ_L is equal to the self-linking number determined by L and Σ_L , that is, $e_{\rm rel}(L, \Sigma_L) = sl(L, \Sigma_L)$.

6.2. Almost contact structures. An almost contact structure on a (2n + 1)-dimensional orientable manifold M is the reduction of the structure group $GL(2n+1, \mathbf{R})$ of the tangent bundle TM to $1 \times U(n)$. A cooriented contact structure on M induces a compatible almost contact structure which is unique up to homotopy. The existence of an almost contact structure on M is equivalent to the existence of a section of the SO(2n + 1)/U(n)-bundle over M which is associated with TM. Two almost contact structures are homotopic if and only if the two associated sections are homotopic.

We set $F_{2n} = SO(2n)/U(n)$ and $F_{2n+1} = SO(2n+1)/U(n)$ and we note that the homogeneous space F_{2n+1} is diffeomorphic to F_{2n+2} [24, Corollary 3.1.3]. $\pi_{2n+1}(F_{2n+1})$ was calculated by Harris and Massey.

Proposition 6.2 (Harris [26], Massey [36] Lemma 1).

$$\pi_{2n+1}(SO(2n+1)/U(n)) = \begin{cases} \mathbf{Z}/n!\mathbf{Z} & n \equiv 0 \pmod{4}, \\ \mathbf{Z} & n \equiv 1 \pmod{4}, \\ \mathbf{Z}/\frac{n!}{2}\mathbf{Z} & n \equiv 2 \pmod{4}, \\ \mathbf{Z} \oplus \mathbf{Z}/2\mathbf{Z} & n \equiv 3 \pmod{4}. \end{cases}$$

6.3. Overtwisted contact structures in higher dimensions. Recently Borman, Eliashberg and Murphy [2] defined and classified overtwisted contact structures in higher dimensions and Casals, Murphy and Presas [6] gave several characterizations of overtwisted contact structures. An overtwisted contact structure is defined in [2] as a contact structure which contains a piecewise smooth codimension one disk with a certain germ of contact structure, which is not easy to describe here. We give one of characterizations in [6] as the definition of an overtwisted contact structure.

Definition 6.3 (Casals, Murphy and Presas [6] Theorem 1.1.). Let (Y,ξ) be a contact manifold of dimension 2n-1 > 3 and α_{ot} be a contact form for an overtwisted contact structure on \mathbf{R}^3 . A contact manifold (Y,ξ) is overtwisted if and only if there is a contact embedding of $(\mathbf{R}^3 \times \mathbf{C}^{n-2}, \ker(\alpha_{ot} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{n-2}r_i^2d\theta_i))$ in (Y,ξ) , where (r_i, θ_i) 's, $i = 1, 2, \ldots n-2$, are polar coordinates.

Given a contact manifold (M, ξ_0) and a closed subset A in M, let $\mathfrak{Cont}_{\mathrm{ot}}(M; A, \xi_0)$ be the space of contact structures on M that are overtwisted on $M \setminus A$ and coincide with ξ_0 on an open neighborhood $\mathcal{O}pA$ of A and let $\mathfrak{cont}_{\mathrm{ot}}(M; A, \xi_0)$ be the space of almost contact structures on M that coincide with ξ_0 on $\mathcal{O}pA$.

Theorem 6.4 (Borman, Eliashberg and Murphy [2]). *The inclusion* map

$$j \colon \mathfrak{Cont}_{\mathrm{ot}}(M; A, \xi_0) \to \mathfrak{cont}_{\mathrm{ot}}(M; A, \xi_0)$$

induces an isomorphism

$$j_*: \pi_0(\mathfrak{Cont}_{\mathrm{ot}}(M; A, \xi_0)) \to \pi_0(\mathfrak{cont}_{\mathrm{ot}}(M; A, \xi_0)).$$

When $M = S^{2n+1}$ and $A = \emptyset$, since homotopy classes $\pi_0(\operatorname{cont}_{\operatorname{ot}}(S^{2n+1}))$ of almost contact structures on S^{2n+1} are classified by the homotopy group $\pi_{2n+1}(F_{2n+1})$, this theorem implies that isotopy classes of overtwisted contact structures on S^{2n+1} are also classified by this group, see Proposition 6.2.

7. Proof of Theorem 1.9

In this section we construct a braided embedding and its smooth Seifert hypersurface. Then we prove Theorem 1.9 by looking at singularities of the characteristic foliation. Though the construction of a braided embedding was appeared in [17], a smooth Seifert hypersurface was not constructed there. The construction of a smooth Seifert hypersurface is based on the idea in [44]. Instead of taking a cyclic branched covering of the whole manifold as in [44], we take a branched covering of a tubular neighborhood of a submanifold and embed it again to the same tubular neighborhood. Then we can calculate indices of singularities of the characteristic foliation.

Let M be a (2n + 3)-dimensional integral homology sphere and Lbe a (2n + 1)-dimensional oriented sphere in M. Let K be a (2n - 1)dimensional oriented sphere in L. We take a small tubular neighborhood N(L) of L of the form $L \times I_{\epsilon_L}^2$ with $\epsilon_L < 1$. Take a Seifert hypersurface Σ_K of K and a small product neighborhood $N(\Sigma_K)$ of Σ_K of the form $\Sigma_K \times I_{\epsilon_K}$ with $\epsilon_K < 1$. We take a small tubular neighborhood N(K) of the form $K \times I_{\epsilon_K}^2$ so that $(K \times I_{\epsilon_K}^2) \cap \Sigma_K$ is given by $\{(x, x_K, y_K) \in K \times I_{\epsilon_K}^2 | x_K \leq 0, y_K = 0\}$ and product structures are compatible.

7.1. Construction of a copy of a contact submanifold and its Seifert hypersurface. In this subsection we construct a submanifold

 L_s in N(L) which is isotopic to L and intersects L transversely along K and also take the Seifert hypersurface of L_s in N(L).

We take a positive real number ϵ with $5\epsilon < \epsilon_K$ and consider a smooth function $f = (f_{x_L}, f_{y_L}): L \to \mathbf{R}^2$, where \mathbf{R}^2 has coordinates (x_L, y_L) , so that

- $f(L) \subset I_4^2$,
- For $(x, x_K, y_K) \in K \times I_{3\epsilon}^2$, $f(x, x_K, y_K) = (x_K/\epsilon, y_K/\epsilon)$,
- For $(x', y_K) \in \Sigma_K \times I_{2\epsilon} \setminus K \times I_{3\epsilon}^2$, $f(x', y_K) = (g(x')/\epsilon, y_K/\epsilon)$, where g is a nonincreasing smooth function on $\mathbf{R}_{\leq -3\epsilon}$ with $g(r) = r \text{ near } r = -3\epsilon$ and $g(r) = -7\epsilon/2$ for $r \leq -4\epsilon$,
- For $x'' \in L \setminus (K \times I_{3\epsilon}^2 \cup \Sigma_K \times I_{2\epsilon}), f(x'') \cap f(K \times I_{\epsilon}^2 \cup \Sigma_K \times I_{\epsilon}) = \emptyset.$

Take a number s such that $0 < 5s < \epsilon_L$. Then we set $L_s \subset L \times I_{\epsilon_L}^2$ by

$$L_s = \{(x, x_L, y_L) \in L \times I_{5s}^2 | x_L = sf_{x_L}(x), y_L = sf_{y_L}(x)\}$$

and $S_{L_s} \subset L \times I^2_{\epsilon_L}$ by

$$S_{L_s} = \{ (x, x_L, y_L) \in L \times I_{5s}^2 | x_L \ge s f_{x_L}(x), y_L = s f_{y_L}(x) \}$$

= $\{ (x, z_L) \in L \times I_{5s}^2 | \arg(z_L - s f(x)) = 0 \},$

where $z_L = x_L + iy_L \in \mathbf{C}$ and we regard f as a \mathbf{C} -valued function. L_s and S_{L_s} have the following properties.

- (1) L_s is isotopic to $L \times \{(0,0)\}$ and S_{L_s} is diffeomorphic to $L \times I$.
- (2) S_{L_s} is transverse to $\{x\} \times \mathbf{R}^2$ for any $x \in L$.
- (3) $S_{L_s} \cap (L \times \{(0,0)\}) = \Sigma_K \times \{(0,0)\}$ because $x \in L$ satisfies $f_{x_L}(x) \leq 0$ and $f_{y_L}(x) = 0$ if and only if $x \in \Sigma_K$.
- (4) $L_s \cap (L \times I_s^2) = \{(x, x_K, y_K, x_L, y_L) \in K \times I_\epsilon^2 \times I_s^2 | x_K = \epsilon x_L/s, y_K = \epsilon y_L/s \}.$
- (5) $S_{L_s} \cap (L \times I_s^2) = \{(x, x_K, y_K, x_L, y_L) \in K \times I_{\epsilon}^2 \times I_s^2 | x_K \leq \epsilon x_L/s, y_K = \epsilon y_L/s\} \cup \{(x', y_K, x_L, y_L) \in (\Sigma_K \times I_{\epsilon} \setminus K \times I_{\epsilon}^2) \times I_s^2 | y_K = \epsilon y_L/s\}.$

We orient S_{L_s} such that its orientation induces the given orientation of L. We set $\partial^e S_{L_s} = -(\partial S_{L_s} \setminus L_s)$, where the orientation of $\partial^e S_{L_s}$ is opposite to that induced as the boundary of S_{L_s} . The following lemma follows from the properties (1) and (2) of L_s and S_{L_s} .

Lemma 7.1. Let $\xi = \ker \alpha_L$ be a positive contact structure on L. For sufficiently small s, L_s and $\partial^e S_{L_s}$ are positive contact submanifolds of $(L \times \mathbf{R}^2, \ker(\alpha_L + \frac{1}{2}(x_L dy_L - y_L dx_L)))$ which are isotopic to $L \times \{(0, 0)\}$ as contact submanifolds.

7.2. Construction of a braided embedding and its Seifert hypersurface. Let k be a positive integer. Let $\pi_k \colon L \times \mathbf{R}^2 \to L \times \mathbf{R}^2$ be

a smooth map given by

$$\pi_k(x, x'_L, y'_L) = (x, \operatorname{Re}((x'_L + iy'_L)^k), \operatorname{Im}((x'_L + iy'_L)^k)).$$

where $\operatorname{Re}(w)$ and $\operatorname{Im}(w)$ denote the real part and the imaginary part of a complex number w, respectively. For a real number c with 0 < c < 1, let $m_c: L \times \mathbf{R}^2 \to L \times \mathbf{R}^2$ be a diffeomorphism given by

$$m_c(x, x'_L, y'_L) = (x, c \cdot x'_L, c \cdot y'_L).$$

In this subsection we take t so that $t(\sqrt{2}\epsilon_L)^{1/k} < \epsilon_L$ and we consider $m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(S_{L_s})) \subset L \times I^2_{\epsilon_L}$. By the properties (4) and (5) of L_s and S_{L_s} , the following holds.

- **a 7.2.** (1) $m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(S_{L_s}))$ is a smooth submanifold of $L \times I_{\epsilon_L}^2$ which is diffeomorphic to the k-fold cyclic covering of S_{L_s} Lemma 7.2. branched along $\Sigma_K \times \{(0,0)\}$ and has k+1 boundary components.
 - (2) $m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(L_s))$ is diffeomorphic to $L_{K,k}$ and $pr_1|_{m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(L_s))}$ is a kfold cyclic covering branched along K, where $\operatorname{pr}_1: L \times I^2_{\epsilon_L} \to L$ is the projection to the first factor.
 - (3) $m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(\partial^e S_{L_s}))$ is diffeomorphic to a disjoint union of k-copies of L.

Moreover, we have the following by Lemma 4.3.

Lemma 7.3. Let $\xi = \ker \alpha_L$ be a positive contact structure on L and K be a positive contact submanifold of (L,ξ) . We take sufficiently small s so that Lemma 7.1 holds. Then for sufficiently small t the followings hold.

- (1) $m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(L_s))$ is a positive contact submanifold of $(L \times I_{\epsilon_L}^2, \ker(\alpha_L +$ $\frac{1}{2}(x_L dy_L - y_L dx_L)))$ which is contactomorphic to $(L_{K,k}, (\xi|_{TL})_{K,k})$.
- (2) $m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(\partial^e S_{L_s}))$ is a positive contact submanifold of $(L \times I_{\epsilon_L}^2, \ker(\alpha_L +$ $\frac{1}{2}(x_L dy_L - y_L dx_L)))$ each component of which is isotopic to $L \times \{(0,0)\}$ through contact submanifolds.

To construct a smooth Seifert hypersurface of $m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(L_s))$ we glue a codimension one oriented smooth submanifold in $M \setminus (m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(L \times I_{5\epsilon}^2)))$ which has no closed components and whose boundary is $m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(\partial^e S_{L_s}))$. Moreover, if we choose a Seifert hypersurface Σ_L of L then we can take the above glued submanifold so that it is diffeomorphic to the disjoint union of k copies of Σ_L . In this case the resulting Seifert hypersurface is diffeomorphic to the k-fold cyclic covering of Σ_L branched along a push-off Σ'_K of Σ_K into Σ_L relative to its boundary corresponding to the $\mathbf{Z}/k\mathbf{Z}$ reduction of the element in $H^1(\Sigma_L \setminus \Sigma'_K; \mathbf{Z})$ dual to the meridian circle of Σ'_K .

The following two observations are immediate but essential for our construction.

Lemma 7.4. For $p \in S_{L_s} \subset L \times I_{\epsilon_L}^2$, then $|\mathrm{pr}_2 \circ m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(p))| = t|\mathrm{pr}_2(p)|^{1/k}$, where $\mathrm{pr}_2 \colon L \times I_{\epsilon_L}^2 \to I_{\epsilon_L}^2$ is the projection to the second factor and $|\cdot|$ denotes the standard norm on $I_{\epsilon_L}^2$.

Lemma 7.5. We assume that $k \ge 2$ and 0 < t < 1. Then $tr^{1/k} < r$ for $0 < t^{k/(k-1)} < r \le 1$ and $tr^{1/k} > r$ for $0 < r < t^{k/(k-1)} < t$.

By these two lemmas we have the following.

Lemma 7.6. If we assume that $k \ge 2$ and $t < s < s^{(k-1)/k} \le 1$, then, for any $p \in S_{L_s} \subset L \times I^2_{\epsilon_L}$ with $|\operatorname{pr}_2(p)| \ge s$, $|\operatorname{pr}_2 \circ m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(p))| < |\operatorname{pr}_2(p)|$.

By combining Lemma 7.6 with the property (2) of S_{L_s} , we have the following.

Lemma 7.7. Let $\xi = \ker \alpha_L$ be a positive contact structure on L. For sufficiently small t, $m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(S_{L_s}))$ is transverse to $\ker(\alpha_L + \frac{1}{2}(x_L dy_L - y_L dx_L))$ on $|(x_L, y_L)| \ge ts^{1/k}$.

By the property (5) of S_{L_s} ,

 $S_{L_s} \cap (L \times D_s^2) = (S_{L_s} \cap (K \times I_{\epsilon}^2 \times D_s^2)) \cup (S_{L_s} \cap ((\Sigma_K \times I_{\epsilon} \setminus K \times I_{\epsilon}^2) \times D_s^2))$ and we denote this by $A \cup B$: $A = (S_{L_s} \cap (K \times I_{\epsilon}^2 \times D_s^2))$ and $B = (S_{L_s} \cap ((\Sigma_K \times I_{\epsilon} \setminus K \times I_{\epsilon}^2) \times D_s^2))$. By $m_t \circ \pi_k^{-1}$, $A \cup B$ is sent into $L \times D_{ts^{1/k}}^2$. We have the following.

Lemma 7.8. Let $\xi = \ker \alpha_L$ be a positive contact structure on L and K be a positive contact submanifold of (L,ξ) . Assume that ξ is given by $\ker(\alpha_K + \frac{1}{2}(x_K dy_K - y_K dx_K))$ on $K \times I^2_{\epsilon_K}$ for some contact form α_K for $\xi|_{TK}$. Then for sufficiently small t, the followings hold.

(1) $m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(A))$ is transverse to $\ker(\alpha_L + \frac{1}{2}(x_L dy_L - y_L dx_L))$. (2) $m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(B))$ is given by $\{(x', y_K, x_L, y_L) \in (\Sigma_K \times I_\epsilon \setminus K \times I_\epsilon^2) \times D_{ts^{1/k}}^2)|$ $y_K = \epsilon/s \cdot \operatorname{Im}(t^{-k}(x_L + iy_L)^k)\}.$

Proof. (1) A direct calculation shows that

$$m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(A)) = \{ (x, x_K, y_K, x_L, y_L) \in K \times I_{\epsilon}^2 \times D_{ts^{1/k}}^2 | \operatorname{Re}((t^{-1}(x_L + iy_L))^k) \ge sx_K/\epsilon, \operatorname{Im}((t^{-1}(x_L + iy_L))^k) = sy_K/\epsilon \}.$$

Since $K \times \{pt\} \subset K \times I_{\epsilon}^2 \subset K \times I_{\epsilon_K}^2$ is a contact submanifold of (L, ξ) , the statement follows.

(2) It follows from the direct calculation as above.

7.3. The characteristic foliation on a Seifert hypersurface of a braided embedding. Now we calculate the indices of isolated singularities of the characteristic foliation on the surface in \mathbb{R}^3 given by a graph of a function on \mathbb{R}^2 . We use this calculation to prove Theorem 1.9.

Proposition 7.9. Let k be a positive integer. We consider the positive contact form $\alpha_+ = dy_K + \frac{1}{2}(x_Ldy_L - y_Ldx_L)$ and the negative contact form $\alpha_- = -dy_K + \frac{1}{2}(x_Ldy_L - y_Ldx_L)$ on \mathbf{R}^3 in the coordinates (y_K, x_L, y_L) . For C > 1 and 0 < t < 1 consider an oriented surface Σ given by the graph $(g(x_L, y_L), x_L, y_L)$ of the function $g(x_L, y_L) = C \cdot \operatorname{Im}(t^{-k}(x_L + iy_L)^k)$ on \mathbf{R}^2 whose orientation is compatible, through the projection $\mathbf{R}^3 \to \mathbf{R}^2$ to the last two coordinates, with the standard orientation of \mathbf{R}^2 given by the ordered basis $(\partial_{x_L}, \partial_{y_L})$. Then the followings hold.

- (1) When k = 2, ker α_+ (resp. ker α_-) defines the characteristic foliation on Σ with one positive (resp. negative) hyperbolic singularity at (0, 0, 0).
- (2) When $k \neq 2$, ker α_+ defines the characteristic foliation on Σ with one positive elliptic singularity at (0,0,0) and k positive hyperbolic singularities at

 $\Sigma \cap \{ (r_L, \theta_L) \\ = ((t^k/(2kC))^{1/(k-2)}, (2j+1)\pi/k) | j = 0, 1, \dots, k-1 \}.$

(3) When $k \neq 2$, ker α_{-} defines the characteristic foliation on Σ with one negative elliptic singularity at (0, 0, 0) and k negative hyperbolic singularities at

$$\Sigma \cap \{ (r_L, \theta_L) = ((t^k/(2kC))^{1/(k-2)}, 2j\pi/k) | j = 0, 1, \dots, k-1 \}$$

Proof. Consider the polar coordinates (r_L, θ_L) corresponding to the product coordinates (x_L, y_L) . Since

$$\pm g^*(\alpha_{\pm}) = (Ct^{-k}kr_L^{k-1}\sin k\theta_L)r_L dr_L + (Ct^{-k}kr_L^{k-1}\cos k\theta_L \pm \frac{1}{2}r_L)r_L d\theta_L$$

the vector fields X_{\pm} given by $\iota_{X_{\pm}}(r_L dr_L \wedge d\theta_L) = \pm g^* \alpha_{\pm}$ which integrate to the characteristic foliations can be written as

$$X_{\pm} = (Ct^{-k}kr_L^{k-1}\cos k\theta_L \pm \frac{1}{2}r_L)\partial_{r_L} - (Ct^{-k}kr_L^{k-2}\sin k\theta_L)\partial_{\theta_L}.$$

Thus the statement follows.



FIGURE 2. Schematic pictures for the characteristic foliations given by X_+ and X_- for k = 3.

Proof of Theorem 1.9. In the case of k = 1 the statement is clear and hence we assume that $k \ge 2$.

We take a neighborhood of $(L, \xi|_{TL})$ in (M, ξ) of the form $(L \times I_{\epsilon_L}^2, \ker(\alpha_L + \frac{1}{2}(x_L dy_L - y_L dx_L)))$, where α_L is a contact form for $\xi|_{TL}$ and $\epsilon_L < 1$. We take a Seifert hypersurface Σ_K and a product neighborhood $\Sigma_K \times I_{\epsilon_K}$ of Σ_K with $\epsilon_K < 1$. We take a neighborhood of K in L of the form $K \times I_{\epsilon_K}^2$ such that $(K \times I_{\epsilon_K}^2) \cap \Sigma_K = \{x_K \leq 0, y_K = 0\}$. We may assume that the neighborhood of $(K, \xi|_{TK})$ is of the form $(K \times I_{\epsilon_K}^2, \ker(\alpha_K + \frac{1}{2}(x_K dy_K - y_K dx_K))))$. We may also assume that the characteristic foliation $(\Sigma_K)_{\xi}$ on Σ_K has isolated singularities and that for each small neighborhood N(q) of the singularity q of $(\Sigma_K)_{\xi}$, $\ker(\alpha_L|_{T(N(q) \times I_{\epsilon_K})})$ is invariant in the I_{ϵ_K} -direction since $N(q) \times I_{\epsilon_K}$ is a neighborhood of a transverse curve. By reparametrizing y_K near each q and taking smaller ϵ_K if necessary, we may assume that $\alpha_L|_{\{q\} \times I_{\epsilon_K}} = \pm dy_K$. Moreover, by taking smaller ϵ_K if necessary, we may assume that outside of this neighborhood $\xi|_{TL}$ is transverse to $\Sigma_K \times \{y_K\}$ for any $y_K \in I_{\epsilon_K}$.

We perform the above construction in subsections 7.1 and 7.2 by taking ϵ , s and t as follows: First we take small ϵ with $5\epsilon < \epsilon_K$. Second, we take sufficiently small s so that $s < \epsilon$ and Lemmas 7.1 holds. Third, we take sufficiently small t so that Lemma 7.3, 7.7 and 7.8 hold. Moreover, when $k \geq 3$, we take t so that $(t^k/(2k\epsilon/s))^{1/(k-2)} < ts^{1/k}$ holds. Then $m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(L_s))$ is a contact submanifold which is isotopic to $(L_{K,k}, (\xi|_{TL})_{K,k})$ by Lemma 7.3 (1) and we define j so that its image is $m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(L_s))$. By Lemma 7.3 (2) and the statement after it, we can take a Seifert hypersurface which is diffeomorphic to a manifold obtained by attaching k-copies of Σ_L along the boundary of $\Sigma = m_t(\pi_k^{-1}(S_{L_s}))$. By Lemma 7.2 (1) it is diffeomorphic to the branched covering of Σ_L branched along a push-off of Σ_K into Σ_L . We denote this Seifert hypersurface $\Sigma_{j(L_{K,k})}$. By perturbing $\Sigma_{j(L_{K,k})}$ relative to Σ , we may assume that the characteristic foliation $(\Sigma_{j(L_{K,k})})_{\xi}$ of $\Sigma_{j(L_{K,k})}$ has isolated singularities and the characteristic foliation is given by the integral curves of a vector field X which directs outward along $j(L_{K,k}) = \partial \Sigma_{j(L_{K,k})}$.

Since the contact structure on $L \times I_{\epsilon_L}^2$ is given by $\alpha_L + \frac{1}{2}(x_L dy_L - y_L dx_L)$, if the contact plane at $(x, x_L, y_L) \in L \times I_{\epsilon_L}^2$ is tangent to $T_{(x,x_L,y_L)}\Sigma$, then ker α_L has to be tangent to $T_{(x,x_L,y_L)}\Sigma \cap T_{(x,x_L,y_L)}(L \times \{(x_L, y_L)\})$. Thus by Lemmas 7.7 and 7.8, the singularities of Σ_{ξ} are on

$$\{(x', y_K, x_L, y_L) \in (\Sigma_K \times I_{\epsilon} \setminus K \times I_{\epsilon}^2) \times D_{ts^{1/k}}^2) | x' \in \operatorname{Sing}((\Sigma_K)_{\xi}), y_K = \epsilon/s \cdot \operatorname{Im}(t^{-k}(x_L + iy_L)^k) \}.$$

By using the calculation of Proposition 7.9 for $C = \epsilon/s$, we can calculate the relative Euler number of $j(L_{K,k})$ and $\Sigma_{j(L_{K,k})}$ as follows.

$$e_{\operatorname{rel}}(j(L_{K,k}), \Sigma_{j(L_{K,k})})$$

$$= -\left\langle e(\xi, X|_{\partial \Sigma_{j(L_{K,k})}}), [\Sigma_{j(L_{K,k})}, \partial \Sigma_{j(L_{K,k})}] \right\rangle$$

$$= k \cdot e_{\operatorname{rel}}(L) - \left\{ \sum_{q \in \operatorname{Sing}_{+}(\Sigma_{\xi})} \operatorname{Ind}(q) - \sum_{q \in \operatorname{Sing}_{-}(\Sigma_{\xi})} \operatorname{Ind}(q) \right\}$$

$$= k \cdot e_{\operatorname{rel}}(L)$$

$$- \left\{ (1-k) \sum_{q \in \operatorname{Sing}_{+}((\Sigma_{K})_{\xi})} \operatorname{Ind}(q) - (1-k) \sum_{q \in \operatorname{Sing}_{-}((\Sigma_{K})_{\xi})} \operatorname{Ind}(q) \right\}$$

$$= k \cdot e_{\operatorname{rel}}(L) - (k-1) \cdot e_{\operatorname{rel}}(K).$$

Since any Seifert hypersurface Σ_K of K can be isotoped relative to K so that Σ_K satisfies the above assumption, by construction of $\Sigma_{j(L_{K,k})}$ the latter statement follows.

8. The relative Euler numbers of smooth unknots in the standard spheres

Let L be a codimension two positive contact submanifold of (M, ξ) and Σ be a smooth Seifert hypersurface of L. Recall that when the singularities of the characteristic foliation Σ_{ξ} on Σ are isolated, the relative Euler number and the Euler characteristic $\chi(\Sigma)$ of Σ can be calculated as follows.

$$e_{\rm rel}(L,\Sigma) = -\sum_{q\in {\rm Sing}_+(\Sigma_{\xi})} {\rm Ind}(q) + \sum_{q\in {\rm Sing}_-(\Sigma_{\xi})} {\rm Ind}(q),$$
$$\chi(\Sigma) = \sum_{q\in {\rm Sing}_+(\Sigma_{\xi})} {\rm Ind}(q) + \sum_{q\in {\rm Sing}_-(\Sigma_{\xi})} {\rm Ind}(q).$$

Thus the sum of the relative Euler number $e_{\rm rel}(L, \Sigma)$ of a contact submanifold L and its Seifert hypersurface Σ and the Euler characteristic $\chi(\Sigma)$ of the same Seifert hypersurface Σ is an even number. In particular, if the smooth knot type of a contact submanifold is the unknot in a sphere, then the relative Euler number becomes an odd number which is independent of the choice of Seifert hypersurfaces.

8.1. Contact 3-spheres in the standard S^5 . By the obstruction theory, we can observe the following.

Theorem 8.1 ([17]). Let $j_i: (S^3, \xi) \to (S^5, \xi_{ot}), i = 1, 2$, be two contact embeddings of a contact structure ξ on S^3 in the overtwisted contact structure ξ_{ot} on S^5 such that the contact structure on the complements of their images are overtwisted. If j_1 is isotopic to j_2 as smooth embeddings, then there is a contactomorphism $\phi: (S^5, \xi_{ot}) \to (S^5, \xi_{ot})$ such that $j_2 = \phi \circ j_1$.

We have the following proposition by this theorem.

Proposition 8.2. Let η be a positive contact structure on S^5 . Let $j_i: (S^3, \xi) \to (S^5, \eta), i = 1, 2$, be two contact embeddings such that they are isotopic as smooth embeddings. Then $e_{rel}(j_1(S^3)) = e_{rel}(j_2(S^3))$.

Proof. Since j_1 and j_2 are codimension two embeddings of a closed manifold, the trace of an isotopy between j_1 and j_2 has measure zero in S^5 and thus it avoids a neighborhood of some point $p \in S^5$. By taking the connected sum at p with the overtwisted S^5 , the resulting embeddings j'_i 's in the overtwisted S^5 are isotopic as smooth embeddings. By Theorem 8.1, there exists a self-contactomorphism ϕ of the overtwisted S^5 so that $j'_2 = \phi \circ j'_1$. Thus $e_{\rm rel}(j'_1(S^3)) = e_{\rm rel}(j'_2(S^3))$ holds. We can calculate $e_{\rm rel}(j'_i(S^3))$'s by using Seifert hypersurfaces contained in $S^5 \setminus \{p\}$ before taking the connected sum and thus $e_{\rm rel}(j_1(S^3)) = e_{\rm rel}(j'_1(S^3)) =$ $e_{\rm rel}(j'_2(S^3)) = e_{\rm rel}(j_2(S^3))$. □

Now we describe the relative Euler numbers of contact embeddings of contact 3-spheres in (S^5, ξ_{std}) which are isotopic to the standard embedding in terms of their d_3 -invariants.

Theorem 8.3. Any contact structure on S^3 has a contact embedding in (S^5, ξ_{std}) so that it is isotopic to the standard embedding. Moreover, for any contact embedding $j: (S^3, \xi) \to (S^5, \xi_{std})$ which is isotopic to the standard embedding, $e_{rel}(j(S^3)) = 2d_3(\xi)$ holds.

Remark 8.4. We note that the first statement has already been shown in [17].

Proof of Theorem 8.3. We note that there is a unique tight contact structure on S^3 up to isotopy and there is a unique overtwisted contact structure on S^3 with a given d_3 -invariant up to isotopy. Thus by Theorem 8.1 and Gray's stability theorem, it is enough to show that for any contact structure ξ on S^3 there is a contact embedding of (S^3, ξ) in (S^5, ξ_{std}) which is isotopic to the standard embedding and whose relative Euler number is given by $2d_3(\xi)$. For ξ_{std} , since the standard sphere bounds a 4-ball whose characteristic foliation has one positive elliptic singularity, the statement follows. For any overtwisted ξ_m with $m \geq 1$, Theorem 1.9 and Lemma 5.1 (1) imply that, by considering a braided embedding about (S^3, ξ_{std}) defined by the double covering branched along the unknot U_{-m} with $sl(U_{-m}) = -2m - 1$, there is a contact embedding of (S^3, ξ_m) whose relative Euler number is equal to $-2 - (-2m - 1) = 2m - 1 = 2d_3(\xi_m)$. Moreover, this embedding can be taken so that it is isotopic to the standard embedding. Next we take an embedding of (S^3, ξ_1) obtained, for example, in the previous step, and then for any $m' \geq 2$ we consider a braided embedding about this contact submanifold given by the double covering branched along the transverse unknot $U_{m'}$ with $sl(U_{m'}) = 2m' - 1$. Then by Theorem 1.9 and Lemma 5.1 (2), for any $2 - m' \leq 0$ we obtain a contact embedding of $(S^3, \xi_{2-m'})$ whose relative Euler number is equal to $2 - (2m' - 1) = 3 - 2m' = 2d_3(\xi_{2-m'})$ and which is isotopic to the standard embedding.

8.2. Connected sum of codimension two contact spheres. Given two unlinked (2n+1)-dimensional positive contact spheres in a (2n+3)dimensional positive contact sphere, by embedding a part of (2n + 2)dimensional symplectic 1-handle we can get a contact sphere which is smoothly the connected sum of given two spheres, which is contactomorphic to the connected sum of given two contact spheres and whose relative Euler number is calculated in the natural way. It can be considered as a higher dimensional generalization of the connected sum of two transverse knots by using a positive band, see [18] for transverse knots case where the connected sum operation is defined by using the front projection.

Proposition 8.5. Let S_1 and S_2 be two unlinked (2n+1)-dimensional positive contact spheres in a positive contact sphere (S^{2n+3},ξ) . Then there exists a contact submanifold S_3 in (S^{2n+3},ξ) such that S_3 is the connected sum of S_1 and S_2 as an oriented submanifold, $(S_3,\xi|_{TS_3})$ is contactomorphic to the connected sum of $(S_1,\xi|_{TS_1})$ and $(S_2,\xi|_{TS_2})$, and $e_{\rm rel}(S_3) = e_{\rm rel}(S_1) + e_{\rm rel}(S_2) + 1$. **Remark 8.6.** Since in (S^3, ξ_{std}) there exists a transverse unknot whose self-linking number is any negative odd number, we can take a transverse knot S_3 which is a connected sum of S_1 and S_2 as a smooth knot and has $sl(S_3) = sl(S_1) + sl(S_2) - (2k-1)$ for any nonnegative integer k.

A local model of the connected sum is described in the following way. We consider $(\mathbf{R}^{2n+3}, \ker \alpha)$ with $\alpha = dz - y_1 dx_1 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=2}^{n+1} r_i^2 d\theta_i$, where $(x_1, y_1, z, r_2, \theta_2, \dots, r_{n+1}, \theta_{n+1})$ are coordinates on \mathbf{R}^{2n+3} and (r_i, θ_i) 's are polar coordinates. Consider an embedding $j_{l,\epsilon}: I_l \times I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1} \to \mathbf{R}^{2n+3}$ for positive real numbers l and ϵ given by

$$j_{l,\epsilon}(s,t,r_2,\theta_2,\ldots,r_{n+1},\theta_{n+1}) = \left(s,t\cos\left(\frac{\pi}{2l}s\right),-t\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{2l}s\right),r_2,\theta_2,\ldots,r_{n+1},\theta_{n+1}\right).$$

Then

$$d(j^*\alpha) = \cos(\pi s/2l)ds \wedge dt + \sum_{i=2}^{n+1} r_i dr_i \wedge d\theta_i,$$
$$(d(j^*\alpha))^{n+1} = (n+1)!\cos(\pi s/2l)ds \wedge dt \wedge \prod_{i=2}^{n+1} r_i dr_i \wedge d\theta_i$$

If we set $\Omega = (d(j^*\alpha))^{n+1}$, then it is a volume form for $I_l \times I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1} \setminus \{s = 0\}$ $\pm l$ } and hence $d(j^*\alpha)$ is a symplectic form for $I_l \times I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1} \setminus \{s = \pm l\}$. We orient $I_l \times I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1}$ by Ω . Now consider the characteristic foliation on $I_l \times I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1} \setminus \{s = \pm l\}$ as the integral curve of the vector field Y defined by $\iota_Y \Omega = j^* (\alpha \wedge (d\alpha)^n)$:

$$Y = -\frac{1}{n+1} \tan\left(\frac{\pi}{2l}s\right) \partial_s + \frac{1}{n+1} \left(\frac{\pi}{2l}+1\right) t \partial_t + \frac{1}{2(n+1)} \sum_{i=2}^{n+1} r_i \partial_{r_i}.$$

By definition, Y is a Liouville vector field on $(I_l \times I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1} \setminus \{s = \pm l\}, \Omega)$ and Y has a unique singular point of index -1 at the origin. Now consider contact submanifolds $j_{l,\epsilon}(\{\pm l\} \times I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1})$. Let A_{\pm} be $\{\pm l\} \times$ I_{ϵ}^{2n+1} , respectively. Consider two submanifolds $A_{f_{\pm}}$ of $I_l \times I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1}$ of the form $\{(f_{\pm}(R), t, r_2, \theta_2, \dots, r_{n+1}, \theta_{n+1})\}$, where $R = \sqrt{t^2 + \sum_{i=2}^{n+1} r_i^2}$, for some smooth functions f_{\pm} such that

- $f_+(R)$ is a nondecreasing function and $f_-(R)$ is a nonincreasing function,
- $f_+(R) > 0$ and $f_-(R) < 0$,
- near $\partial I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1}$, $f_+(R) = l$ and $f_-(R) = -l$,
- on $\{R/\epsilon \le 1/4\}, f_{\pm}/l = \pm \sqrt{(R/\epsilon)^2 + 1/16}$, respectively, $f_{\pm}(I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1}) \cap \operatorname{int}(I_l \times I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1})$ are transverse to Y.

Then $j_{l,\epsilon}(A_{f_+})$ (resp. $j_{l,\epsilon}(A_{f_-})$) is contact isotopic to $j_{l,\epsilon}(A_+)$ (resp. to $j_{l,\epsilon}(A_-)$) relative to its boundary. We consider a submanifold B of $I_l \times I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1}$ such that

- *B* is obtained by connecting $(A_{f_+} \cup A_{f_-}) \setminus (I_{\sqrt{2}l/4} \times I_{\epsilon/4})$ smoothly by a tube $I \times S^{2n}$ in $I_{\sqrt{2}l/4} \times I_{\epsilon/4}$,
- each slice $B \cap \{s = c\}$, $c \in I_{\sqrt{2}l/4}$, is a sphere centered at the origin on $\{s = c\}$,
- $B \cap \operatorname{int}(I_l \times I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1})$ is transverse to Y.

Since $(I_l \times I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1} \setminus \{s = \pm l\}, \Omega)$ can be considered as a subset containing the origin of \mathbf{R}^{2n+2} with the standard symplectic structure, $j_{l,\epsilon}(B)$ is a positive contact submanifold obtained by taking the connected sum of $j_{l,\epsilon}(A_+)$ and $j_{l,\epsilon}(A_-)$ relative to their boundaries.

Proof of Proposition 8.5. Given S_1 and S_2 , take a disjoint balls B_1 and B_2 so that $S_1 \subset B_1$ and $S_2 \subset B_2$. Moreover, we take Seifert hypersurfaces Σ_{S_1} of S_1 in B_1 and Σ_{S_2} of S_2 in B_2 . We take an isotropic arc γ connecting S_1 and S_2 such that $\gamma \cap (\Sigma_{S_1} \cup \Sigma_{S_2}) = \partial \gamma$. Indeed we can take such an isotropic arc by Gromov's h-principle for isotropic submanifolds. By the neighborhood theorem of codimension two contact submanifolds and isotropic submanifolds, there is a neighborhood $N(\gamma)$ of γ which is orientation preserving contactomorphic to $I_{l+\epsilon'} \times I_{\epsilon}^{2n+2} \subset (\mathbf{R}^{2n+3}, \ker \alpha)$ for some positive real numbers l, ϵ and ϵ' such that γ is sent to $I_l \times \{(0, 0, \dots, 0)\}, S_1 \cap N(\gamma) \text{ (resp. } S_2 \cap N(\gamma))$ is sent to $j_{l,\epsilon}(A_-)$ (resp. $j_{l,\epsilon}(A_+)$) and $\Sigma_{S_1} \cap N(\gamma)$ (resp. $\Sigma_{S_2} \cap N(\gamma)$) is sent to $[-l - \epsilon', -l] \times \{0\} \times I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1}$ (resp. $[l, l + \epsilon'] \times \{0\} \times I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1}$). If we do a surgery as above, we obtain a new contact submanifold $S_3 = (S_1 \setminus j_{l,\epsilon}(A_-)) \cup (S_2 \setminus j_{l,\epsilon}(A_+)) \cup j_{l,\epsilon}(B)$ of (S^{2n+3},ξ) which is contactomorphic to the connected sum of $(S_1, \xi|_{TS_1})$ and $(S_2, \xi|_{TS_2})$ and is the connected sum of S_1 and S_2 as an oriented submanifold of S^{2n+3} . We can take a Seifert hypersurface of S_3 which is diffeomorphic to a boundary connected sum of Σ_{S_1} and Σ_{S_2} . The statement for the relative Euler number follows from the fact that ker α positively tangent to $j_{l,\epsilon}(I_l \times I_{\epsilon}^{2n+1} \setminus \{s = \pm l\})$ at the origin and Y has a unique isolated singularity of index -1 at the origin.

8.3. Contact S^{2n+1} 's in the standard S^{2n+3} . The relative Euler number of a contact embedding of a contact 3-sphere in (S^5, ξ_{std}) is determined by the isotopy class of a smooth embedding and the contact structure on the domain, however, in some other dimensions, for example, the case of the self-linking number of a transverse knot in a contact 3-manifold, it is not determined by these data. In the light of the classification of overtwisted contact structures given by Theorem 6.4 and Lemma 6.2, we know that there exist only finitely many overtwisted contact structures on S^{2n+1} up to isotopy when n is an even number.

Proposition 8.7. For any integer n with $n \ge 1$, there exists an overtwisted S^{2n+1} in S^{2n+3} which is ambient isotopic to the standard sphere.

This is a corollary of the following theorem in [6].

Theorem 8.8 (Casals, Murphy and Presas [6] Theorem 4.1). Let (M^{2n+3},ξ) be a contact manifold with $n \ge 1$ and $(L^{2n+1},\xi|_{TL})$ a codimension two overtwisted contact submanifold. A k-fold contact cyclic covering of (M,ξ) branched along $(L,\xi|_{TL})$ is overtwisted for k large enough.

Proof of Proposition 8.7. By Theorem 1.9, for any positive integer k, the k-fold contact cyclic branched covering of a contact $(S^{2n+1}, \ker \alpha)$ along a contact S^{2n-1} which is ambient isotopic the standard S^{2n-1} can be embedded in $(S^{2n+1} \times D_{\epsilon}^2, \ker(\alpha + \frac{1}{2}r^2d\theta))$ for any sufficiently small ϵ . Thus if there exists an overtwisted S^{2n-1} in a contact S^{2n+1} in $(S^{2n+3}, \xi_{\text{std}})$ which is ambient isotopic to the standard S^{2n-1} , then there exists an overtwisted S^{2n+1} in $(S^{2n+3}, \xi_{\text{std}})$ by Theorem 8.8. Moreover, we can construct an overtwisted S^{2n+1} which is ambient isotopic to the standard S^{2n+1} . Since by Theorem 8.3 any overtwisted S^3 can be embedded in (S^5, ξ_{std}) so that it is ambient isotopic to the standard S^3 , by the induction on dimensions, the statement follows.

Proof of Theorem 1.10. Let (M,ξ) be $(S^{2n+3},\xi_{\rm std})$ and L be the standard S^{2n+1} in (S^{2n+3}, ξ_{std}) . If there is a contact S^{2n-1} denoted by K in L which is ambient isotopic to the standard S^{2n-1} among smooth submanifolds and whose relative Euler number is equal to -2m - 3, then by applying Theorem 1.9 with k = 2 to the above M, L and K, there exists a contact S^{2n+1} in (S^{2n+3}, ξ_{std}) which is ambient isotopic to the standard S^{2n+1} and whose relative Euler number is equal to -2 - (-2m - 3) = 2m + 1. Theorem 8.3, by induction on dimensions, implies that for any positive integer n and any integer m, there exists a contact S^{2n+1} in (S^{2n+3}, ξ_{std}) which is ambient isotopic to the standard S^{2n+1} and whose relative Euler number is equals to 2m+1. Since Proposition 8.7 implies that there exists at least one overtwisted S^{2n+1} in $(S^{2n+3}, \xi_{\text{std}})$, we take one of these overtwisted S^{2n+1} . By Proposition 8.5 and taking the connected sum with this overtwisted S^{2n+1} , we can see that, for any positive integer n and any integer m, there exists an overtwisted S^{2n+1} in (S^{2n+3}, ξ_{std}) which is ambient isotopic to the standard S^{2n+1} and whose relative Euler number is equals to 2m + 1. Thus by Gray's stability theorem (1) follows.

Since for any positive even number n, there exist finitely many overtwisted contact structures on S^{2n+1} up to isotopy and in particular there exists a unique overtwisted contact structure on S^5 up to isotopy, by Gray's stability theorem (2) follows.

References

- D. Bennequin. Entrelacements et équations de Pfaff. In Third Schnepfenried geometry conference, Vol. 1 (Schnepfenried, 1982), volume 107 of Astérisque, pages 87–161. Soc. Math. France, Paris, 1983.
- [2] M. S. Borman, Y. Eliashberg, and E. Murphy. Existence and classification of overtwisted contact structures in all dimensions. 04 2014, arXiv:1404.6157.
- [3] J. S. Carter and S. Kamada. Braids and branched coverings of dimension three. 06 2012, arXiv:1206.4744.
- [4] J. S. Carter and S. Kamada. How to fold a manifold. 01 2013, arXiv:1301.4259.
- [5] J. S. Carter and S. Kamada. Three-dimensional braids and their descriptions. 12 2013, arXiv:1312.5388.
- [6] R. Casals, E. Murphy, and F. Presas. Geometric criteria for overtwistedness. 03 2015, arXiv:1503.06221.
- [7] F. Ding, H. Geiges, and A. I. Stipsicz. Surgery diagrams for contact 3manifolds. *Turkish J. Math.*, 28(1):41–74, 2004.
- [8] F. Ding, H. Geiges, and A. I. Stipsicz. Lutz twist and contact surgery. Asian J. Math., 9(1):57–64, 2005.
- S. K. Donaldson. Symplectic submanifolds and almost-complex geometry. J. Differential Geom., 44(4):666-705, 1996.
- [10] K. Dymara. Legendrian knots in overtwisted contact structures on S³. Ann. Global Anal. Geom., 19(3):293–305, 2001.
- [11] T. Ekholm, J. Etnyre, and M. Sullivan. Non-isotopic Legendrian submanifolds in R²ⁿ⁺¹. J. Differential Geom., 71(1):85–128, 2005.
- [12] Y. Eliashberg. Classification of overtwisted contact structures on 3-manifolds. Invent. Math., 98(3):623–637, 1989.
- [13] Y. Eliashberg. Legendrian and transversal knots in tight contact 3-manifolds. In *Topological methods in modern mathematics (Stony Brook, NY, 1991)*, pages 171–193. Publish or Perish, Houston, TX, 1993.
- [14] J. B. Etnyre. Tight contact structures on lens spaces. Commun. Contemp. Math., 2(4):559–577, 2000.
- [15] J. B. Etnyre. Legendrian and transversal knots. In Handbook of knot theory, pages 105–185. Elsevier B. V., Amsterdam, 2005.
- [16] J. B. Etnyre. On knots in overtwisted contact structures. Quantum Topol., 4(3):229-264, 2013.
- [17] J. B. Etnyre and R. Furukawa. Braided embeddings of contact 3-manifolds in the standard contact 5-sphere. 10 2015, arXiv:1510.03091.
- [18] D. Fuchs and S. Tabachnikov. Invariants of Legendrian and transverse knots in the standard contact space. *Topology*, 36(5):1025–1053, 1997.
- [19] R. Furukawa. On the relative Euler number of codimension two contact spheres in the standard spheres. submitted.

- [20] H. Geiges. Constructions of contact manifolds. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc., 121(3):455–464, 1997.
- [21] H. Geiges. An introduction to contact topology, volume 109 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2008.
- [22] E. Giroux. Structures de contact en dimension trois et bifurcations des feuilletages de surfaces. *Invent. Math.*, 141(3):615–689, 2000.
- [23] R. E. Gompf. Handlebody construction of Stein surfaces. Ann. of Math. (2), 148(2):619–693, 1998.
- [24] J. W. Gray. Some global properties of contact structures. Ann. of Math. (2), 69:421–450, 1959.
- [25] M. Gromov. Partial differential relations, volume 9 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1986.
- [26] B. Harris. Some calculations of homotopy groups of symmetric spaces. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 106:174–184, 1963.
- [27] S. Harvey, K. Kawamuro, and O. Plamenevskaya. On transverse knots and branched covers. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN, (3):512–546, 2009.
- [28] H. M. Hilden, M. T. Lozano, and J. M. Montesinos. All three-manifolds are pullbacks of a branched covering S^3 to S^3 . Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 279(2):729–735, 1983.
- [29] M. W. Hirsch. On imbedding differentiable manifolds in euclidean space. Ann. of Math. (2), 73:566–571, 1961.
- [30] K. Honda. On the classification of tight contact structures. I. Geom. Topol., 4:309–368, 2000.
- [31] A. Ibort, D. Martínez-Torres, and F. Presas. On the construction of contact submanifolds with prescribed topology. J. Differential Geom., 56(2):235–283, 2000.
- [32] Y. Kanda. The classification of tight contact structures on the 3-torus. Comm. Anal. Geom., 5(3):413–438, 1997.
- [33] N. Kasuya. An obstruction for existence of codimension two contact embeddings in a darboux chart. 05 2013, arXiv:1305.2423.
- [34] N. Kasuya. On contact submanifolds of the odd dimensional Euclidean spaces. Thesis, University of Tokyo, 3 2014.
- [35] D. Martínez Torres. Contact embeddings in standard contact spheres via approximately holomorphic geometry. J. Math. Sci. Univ. Tokyo, 18(2):139–154, 2011.
- [36] W. S. Massey. Obstructions to the existence of almost complex structures. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 67:559–564, 1961.
- [37] J. Milnor. Singular points of complex hypersurfaces. Annals of Mathematics Studies, No. 61. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J.; University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1968.
- [38] J. M. Montesinos. Surgery on links and double branched covers of S³. In Knots, groups, and 3-manifolds (Papers dedicated to the memory of R. H. Fox), pages 227–259. Ann. of Math. Studies, No. 84. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N.J., 1975.
- [39] J. M. Montesinos. Lectures on 3-fold simple coverings and 3-manifolds. In Combinatorial methods in topology and algebraic geometry (Rochester, N.Y., 1982),

volume 44 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 157–177. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1985.

- [40] A. Mori. Global models of contact forms. J. Math. Sci. Univ. Tokyo, 11(4):447– 454, 2004.
- [41] A. Mori. Reeb foliations on S⁵ and contact 5-manifolds violating the thurstonbennequin inequality. 06 2009, arXiv:0906.3237.
- [42] A. Mori. On the violation of Thurston-Bennequin inequality for a certain nonconvex hypersurface. 11 2011, arXiv:1111.0383.
- [43] A. Mori. The Reeb foliation arises as a family of Legendrian submanifolds at the end of a deformation of the standard S³ in S⁵. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 350(1-2):67–70, 2012.
- [44] W. D. Neumann. Cyclic suspension of knots and periodicity of signature for singularities. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 80:977–981, 1974.
- [45] F. Öztürk and K. Niederkrüger. Brieskorn manifolds as contact branched covers of spheres. *Period. Math. Hungar.*, 54(1):85–97, 2007.